
 

 

 
Agenda for Strategic Planning Committee 
Wednesday, 16th September, 2020, 2pm 
 
Members of Strategic Planning Committee 
Councillors: P Arnott, M Allen, K Blakey, S Chamberlain, 
O Davey (Vice-Chairman), P Hayward, N Hookway, M Howe, 
B Ingham, D Ledger (Chairman), K McLauchlan, A Moulding, 
E Rylance, P Skinner and I Thomas  

 
Venue: Online via the zoom app.  All councillors and registered 
speakers will have been sent an appointment with the meeting 
link 

 
Contact: Wendy Harris; 

01395 517542; email wharris@eastdevon.gov.uk 

(or group number 01395 517546) 
Tuesday, 8 September 2020 
 
IMPORTANT – this meeting will be conducted online and recorded by zoom only.  
Please do not attend Blackdown House. 
Members are asked to follow the Protocol for Remote Meetings 
 
This meeting is being recorded by EDDC for subsequent publication on the Council’s 
website and will be streamed live to the Council’s Youtube Channel at 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCmNHQruge3LVI4hcgRnbwBw 
 
Public speakers are now required to register to speak – for information please use the 
following link: https://eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/have-your-say-at-
meetings/all-other-virtual-public-meetings/#article-content 
 
1 Public speaking   

 Information on public speaking is available online 
 

2 Minutes of the previous meeting  (Pages 3 - 10) 

3 Apologies   

4 Declarations of interest   

 Guidance is available online to Councillors and co-opted members on making 
declarations of interest 
 

5 Matters of urgency   

 Information on matters of urgency is available online 
 

6 Confidential/exempt item(s)   

East Devon District Council 

Blackdown House 

Border Road 

Heathpark Industrial Estate 

Honiton 

EX14 1EJ 

DX 48808 HONITON 

Tel: 01404 515616 

www.eastdevon.gov.uk 

Public Document Pack

page 1

https://eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/protocol-for-virtual-meetings/
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCmNHQruge3LVI4hcgRnbwBw
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/have-your-say-at-meetings/all-other-virtual-public-meetings/#article-content
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/have-your-say-at-meetings/all-other-virtual-public-meetings/#article-content
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/have-your-say-at-meetings/all-other-virtual-public-meetings/#article-content
http://eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/councillor-conduct/councillor-reminder-for-declaring-interests/
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/matters-of-urgency/


 To agree any items to be dealt with after the public (including the Press) have 
been excluded. There are no items which officers recommend should be dealt 
with in this way. 
 

7 Changes to current planning system August 2020 consultation  (Pages 11 - 34) 

 The report outlines some of the potential implications of the proposed changes 
and seeks to agree the Council’s response to the consultation. 
 

8 Planning White Paper - implications and proposed response  (Pages 35 - 73) 

 The report outlines some of the potential implications of the proposed changes to 
the planning system for the district and seeks to agree the Council’s response to 
the consultation. 
 

9 Adoption and implementation of the revised Community Infrastructure Levy 
Charging Schedule  (Pages 74 - 78) 

 The report sets out the process for bringing the revised Charging Schedule into 
effect, including the date for when the new charges will apply. 
 

 
 
 
 
Under the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014, any members of the 
public are now allowed to take photographs, film and audio record the proceedings and 
report on all public meetings (including on social media). No prior notification is needed but 
it would be helpful if you could let the democratic services team know you plan to film or 
record so that any necessary arrangements can be made to provide reasonable facilities for 
you to report on meetings. This permission does not extend to private meetings or parts of 
meetings which are not open to the public. You should take all recording and photography 
equipment with you if a public meeting moves into a session which is not open to the public.  
 
If you are recording the meeting, you are asked to act in a reasonable manner and not 
disrupt the conduct of meetings for example by using intrusive lighting, flash photography or 
asking people to repeat statements for the benefit of the recording. You may not make an 
oral commentary during the meeting. The Chairman has the power to control public 
recording and/or reporting so it does not disrupt the meeting. 
 
Members of the public exercising their right to speak during Public Question Time will be 
recorded. 
 
Decision making and equalities 
 

For a copy of this agenda in large print, please contact the Democratic 
Services Team on 01395 517546 

page 2

http://new.eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/committees-and-meetings/decision-making-and-equalities-duties/


EAST DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Minutes of the meeting of Strategic Planning Committee held at Online via 

the zoom app on 23 July 2020 

 
Attendance list at end of document 
The meeting started at 5.00 pm and ended at 9.10 pm 
 
 
48    Public speaking  

 
Councillor Ray Steer-Kemp spoke on behalf of Bishops Clyst Parish Council and 
addressed the prospect of traffic chaos and gridlock at Clyst St Mary.  He advised 
following an investigation, interview surveys and resident questionnaire the parish 
council presented a report to Devon County Council in February which included 
recommendations for urgent safety measures along the A3052, a reduction in speed and 
urgent works to alleviate traffic congestion at the Clyst St Mary roundabout.   
 
Councillor Steer-Kemp raised concerns that the proposed GESP plan would propose 
major development at Hill Barton, Greendale and Oil Mill Lane which were all along the 
A3052 causing more traffic congestion and suggested this could be alleviated by a 
proposed link from the A3052 to the A30 and a possible link from the A3052 to A376 
Exmouth Road.  The parish council urge that positive and funded proposals are 
submitted to relieve congestion on the A3052 and A376 roads before consideration of 
any major development. 
 
Dr Nick Hodges spoke on behalf of Farringdon Parish Council and raised concerns on 
Policy 16 in relation to housing target and distribution on the suggested sites at Hill 
Barton, Greendale and Oil Mill Lane and addressed the inadequate bus and train links 
and that they are on entirely Greenfield Sites.  Dr Hodges reminded members that the 
global vision of the GESP was to produce an economy that was carbon netural and 
productive, to celebrate the areas of beauty and to provide homes we need.  Dr Hodges 
addressed the proposal for 14,000 houses in Farringdon when Farringdon does not have 
a local housing need.  Farringdon should not be taking a proportion of the national 
housing need, it would lose a special natural and historic environment while supporting 
ecological devastation.  
 
Mr David Daniel sought clarification of the GESP and referred to economic growth and 
referred to two House of Commons Briefing Papers that gave an average growth in the 
South West of 1.6% and a forecast of future growth to 2026 of 1.9% and that these 
figures were nowhere near the 3.2% assumptions of the GESP baseline and suggested 
these economic ambition were unrealistic, unsustainable and undeliverable.  Mr Daniel 
highlighted these forecasts were now outdated due to Covid-19 and the new Permitted 
Development Rights which came in from September and urged members to pause to 
take stock and to rethink. 
 
Mr Anthony Sayers spoke on behalf of Farringdon Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group 
Committee and advised members they had spent over 3 years producing a 
Neighbourhood Plan which had been approved by the parish council and submitted to 
East Devon District Council this week.  This was a stark contrast to GESP which 
appeared to have a disproportionate influence by landowners and developers and sites 
have been proposed without any consultation with local communities.   
 

page 3

Agenda Item 2



Strategic Planning Committee 23 July 2020 
 

Mr Sayers raised concerns for the historic listed buildings in his parish and also referred 
to tourism being vital to the East Devon economy and emphasised that GESP should be 
sustainability led and not site led which would lead to environmental damage to the rural 
environment. 
 
A housing needs assessment identified there was no housing need in Farringdon other 
than a small number of single dwellings and emphasised that Cranbrook had plenty of 
affordable housing, a railway station and good infrastructure.  Farringdon is completely 
inappropriate for a massive housing site. 
 
The Vice Chairman read out a statement from the Devon Branch of the Campaign to 
Protect Rural England (CPRE Devon) which referred to the Government using outdated 
and incorrect projections from 2014 to force local authorities to plan for more houses 
than are needed.  It also referred to projected growth rates over the next 10 years with 
East Devon having the highest growth rate of all at 15.9%. 
 

49    Minutes of the previous meeting  

 
The minutes of the Strategic Planning Committee held on 25 February 2020 were 
confirmed as a true record. 
 

50    Declarations of interest  

 
Minute 53. Greater Exeter Strategic Plan: draft policies and site options consultation. 
Councillor Eleanor Rylance, Personal, Broadclyst Parish Councillor and sit on the 
Broadclyst Neighbourhood Plan Overview Committee and Ward Member for Broadclyst. 
 
Minute 53. Greater Exeter Strategic Plan: draft policies and site options consultation. 
Councillor Kathy McLauchlan, Personal, District Councillor. 
 
Minute 53. Greater Exeter Strategic Plan: draft policies and site options consultation. 
Councillor Mike Howe, Personal, Bishops Clyst Parish Councillor and live in East Devon 
surrounded by these developments;. 
 
Minute 53. Greater Exeter Strategic Plan: draft policies and site options consultation. 
Councillor Paul Hayward, Personal, As Parish Clerk to All Saints, Chardstock and 
Newton Poppleford and Harpford Parish Councils had attended meetings when GESP 
had been discussed. 
 

51    Matters of urgency  

 
There were no matters of urgency discussed. 
 

52    Confidential/exempt item(s)  

 
There were no items that officers recommended should be dealt with requiring exclusion 
of the public or press. 
 

53    Greater Exeter Strategic Plan: draft policies and site options 

consultation  

 

page 4



Strategic Planning Committee 23 July 2020 
 

The Service Lead – Planning Strategy and Development Management presented a 
detailed presentation to the committee outlining the purpose of GESP to set the scene 
for debate. 
 
Members noted the advantages of GESP including having a greater opportunity to 
influence the growth strategy of other administrative areas within Great Exeter, enable 
better co-ordination of the delivery of infrastructure and access to greater resources, 
knowledge and expertise through joint working on the plan.  The Service Lead – 
Planning Strategy and Development Management illustrated common issues between 
the partner authorities such as climate change and habitat protection and that joint 
working had helped to deliver mitigation for the impacts of developments on the 
pebblebed heaths and exe estuary. 
 
Members also noted the disadvantages including the lack of control over the rate of 
progress and risk of a delay if partners cannot agree, the perceived delay to production 
of a new Local Plan while waiting for GESP as well as technical difficulties around the 
relationship between the GESP and Local Plan. 
 
The Service Lead – Planning Strategy and Development Management referred to key 
evidence documents which had been assessed against environmental, social and 
economic impacts; a consultation statement that included feedback on the issues 
consultation in 2017 which had been considered and had informed the work since that 
time and a equalities impact assessment which looked at the impact on protected 
groups.  All these documents are proposed for consultation alongside the main policies 
and site options documents and appendices to the report. 
 
The proposal before Members was for an 8 week consultation starting 21 September 
2020 with opportunities to consider and discuss the issues raised before a further 
consultation on a draft plan. 
 
The Chairman thanked the Service Lead – Planning Strategy Development Management 
and welcomed non-committee members to speak. 
 
Discussions covered: 
 

 Concerns raised that Members have no say over the overall matters being 
considered; 

 GESP is progressing behind closed doors and Members have been excluded from 
participating; 

 A lot of emphasis was placed on building new homes but did not focus on first 
time buyers.  Research showed that new homes are 20% smaller with limited 
storage space with smaller gardens and not built to passivhaus standards; 

 It is important that the public get to comment on the document with regular 
communication with those communities where the sites are located; 

 Comment that at the GESP meetings Members were presented with what was 
going to happen and took no part in contributing towards the debate; 

 Clarification sought on Policy 35 Woodlands Creation and how it relates to this 
Council’s declared climate emergency.  Planting the right trees in the right places 
means that trees would be carbon sinks for their lifetime.  Protecting old 
established trees is the most important thing that we can do; 

 Concerns raised on the potential impact on villages including Aylesbeare; 

 Concerns raised that  approximately 25,000 houses are in the site options for East 
Devon; 

page 5



Strategic Planning Committee 23 July 2020 
 

 Members concurred that it was important for the public to see the document and 
respond with their views and for their views to be considered; 

 Comment made on Policy 16 Housing Allocations, East Devon bears a huge 
disproportionate number of sites, allocating 10,000 houses approximately 6,000 
through the GESP and 4,000 through the Local Plan.  Concerns raised that the 
GESP seems to have allocated over four times the amount with an unwritten 
expectation that East Devon will take other districts housing numbers.   The 
Service Lead – Planning Strategy and Development Management clarified that the 
plan proposed site options with a capacity that could potentially do that but there 
is no intention to allocate all of those sites.  The intention of the consultation was 
to show genuine options and choices to be made between the sites; 

 Policies need to be instructions, not vain hopes or weak statements; 

 Clarification sought on the serious lack of social housing in East Devon.  In 
response the Service Lead – Planning Strategy and Development Management 
advised although Policy 17 does refer to social and affordable homes for rent it did 
not capture specific categories of affordable homes and social housing as it would 
be considered site by site.  Social housing is a high priority for this Council as it is 
our greatest need; 

 Clarification sought on the GESP process.  In response the Service Lead – 
Planning Strategy and Development Management advised Members about the 
plan production to allow engagement with the public giving options and choices so 
that they can understand what is being considered; 

 Comment made that the policies within the document did not fully commit to  the 
environmental, habitat protection and employment concerns; 

 It feels like the document we will be sending out is a fait accompli given how 
secret the process has been. 

 
Discussion and debate by Committee Members covered: 

 Withdrawing from GESP would have serious legal, economic, political and social 
consequences; 

 The principle of collaboration was welcomed but concerns were raised that is was 
being pushed from Exeter; 

 A number of members suggested to press pause on the process because of the 
changes due to Covid-19.  In response it was advised Government had been clear 
in recent guidance post Covid-19 that they want to see plans progressing; 

 The proposed policies do not give any options or choices for us to consult on, it 
gives misinformation, poor information and no options.  There is no positivity in the 
document; 

 Clarification sought on the immediate and long term implications for the wider plan 
process.  In response the Chief Executive advised if the committee did decide not 
to go out to consultation there would be a requirement that the Leader and the 
Chairman of Strategic Planning Committee to go back to our partners to explain 
why the council was unable to agree with them and to see what scope there was 
for the GESP to continue. 

 Concerns raised about Policy 36 Exe Estuary and Dawlish Warren Pebblebed 
Heaths and the habitat regulations assessment report showing red flags indicating 
that mitigation was not possible or would be very difficult.  In response the Service 
Lead – Planning Strategy and Development Management advised habitat 
regulations were very clear that we cannot promote development that will have a 
significant impact on the Exe Estuary and that is not what the council is proposing 
to do; 

 Emphasis was made on the requirement to cooperate with our neighbouring 
authorities and the expectation by government to make progress; 

page 6



Strategic Planning Committee 23 July 2020 
 

 The need to consider the risks if we do not move forward with the GESP; 

 There will be implications on the decisions we take and it is clear from Central 
Government that it wants to see plans progressing.  If we fail to deliver numbers 
we risk losing what little control we have over that delivery; 

 The document is deeply flawed and does not cover the things that our residents 
want and Members should be concerned with what is good for the people of East 
Devon; 

 As Councillors we represent the people and it is our job to read through the 
document to come to an informed opinion to decide whether or not it should go 
out to consultation.  This plan is not a fit plan and it should not be going out for 
consultation; 

 
 
The following motion was proposed by Councillor Mike Howe and seconded by 
Councillor Mike Allen. 
 
1.  That the content and conclusion of the GESP Equality Impact Assessment and 

Screening Report attached to appendix E is noted;  
2. A further call for sites process to be held on the GESP draft policies and site 

options document is approved;  
3. The content of the consultation statement for the 2017 Greater Exeter Strategic 

Plan Issues Consultation attached to appendix D is noted; 
4. That it be recommended to Cabinet that the GESP team is brought up to 8 full 

time equivalent members of staff and that local planning authority staff resources 
are provided equitably to the team through equalisation arrangements.  For 
EDDC, subject to confirmation of the additional GESP staff roles that will be 
required, this is likely to equate to a total contribution of approximately £62,000 
per annum towards staff costs, or an additional c.£23,025 per annum on top of 
existing contributions; 

5. That the GESP draft policies and site options to come back to the Strategic 
Planning Committee within two weeks to enable Members to review the policies 
and then further consulting with partner authorities 

6. That it be recommend to Council to move forward as a priority with the East 
Devon Local Plan revision alongside GESP’. 

 
The proposer of the motion, Councillor Mike Howe raised the issue of being realistic and 
the need to move forward with a consultation with a document that gives people hope, 
aspirations and reality and emphasised the need to look at the policies properly and to 
be addressed one by one.  
 
The seconder of the motion, Councillor Mike Allen urged that the document was revised 
within two weeks with clear guidance on each authority’s commitment and to take out the 
wording ‘any commitment to sharing the five year land supply requirements’.  Councillor 
Allen also referred to the need to bring forward the local plan.  In response the Chief 
Executive made clear that it would be politically unacceptable for a partner authority to 
take a share from another partner unless it is explicit and referred to a document 
produced by Exeter City Council. 
 
The following amendment to the proposed motion was proposed by Councillor Andrew 
Moulding and seconded by Councillor Philip Skinner. 
 
‘To adjourn the meeting to enable all members of the Council to send in a list of concerns 
to enable the council to put a framework together so that the GESP policies could be 

page 7



Strategic Planning Committee 23 July 2020 
 

amended in line with what Members of East Devon District Council feel is the right way 
forward’. 
 
The proposer of the amended motion Councillor Moulding referred to investment in 
infrastructure and working together with neighbouring authorities to help get the green 
infrastructure and social housing that we want 
 
In response Councillor Howe stated he could not support the amendment in its current 
form as it would not change the GESP policies that were not sustainable. 
 
The Chairman requested that a vote take place on the proposed amendment to the 
motion.  The amendment to the motion was put to committee with 4 votes for yes and 9 
votes for no.  This amendment was not carried. 
 
The Chairman requested that a vote take place on the motion.  The motion was put to 
committee with 4 votes for yes and 10 votes for no.  The motion was not carried. 
 
The following motion was proposed by Councillor Eleanor Rylance and seconded by 
Councillor Paul Arnott. 
 
‘We notify our district partners that we are withdrawing from the GESP.  In that letter we 
offer assurances that we will fulfil our duty to co-operate in an ongoing and positive 
partnership, that this council immediately begins the process to renew our local plan and 
that the Strategic Planning Committee meets as soon as possible to explore and define 
the processes involved.’   
 
The Chief Executive clarified that the recommendation to withdraw from GESP must go 
to Full Council. 
 
The Chairman requested that a vote take place on the motion.  The motion was put to 
committee and was carried by 8 votes for yes, 4 votes for no and 1 vote in abstention. 
 
RESOLVED: 
That the Strategic Planning Committee recommend to Full Council to: 

 To notify our district partners that we are withdrawing from the GESP; 

 In that letter we offer assurance that we will fulfil our duty to co-operate in 
an ongoing and positive partnership; 

 That this council immediately begins the process to renew our local plan 
and that the Strategic Planning Committee meets as soon as possible to 
explore and define the processes involved. 

 
The Chief Executive advised that as the resolution was carried this no longer made Item 
8 relevant and that Item 9 would be discussed at a later date when Strategic Planning 
Committee received a progress report on the local plan. 
 
The Chairman closed the meeting. 
 
 
 

Attendance List 

Councillors present: 
N Hookway 
M Allen 

page 8



Strategic Planning Committee 23 July 2020 
 

P Hayward 
M Howe 
D Ledger (Chairman) 
A Moulding 
E Rylance 
P Skinner 
P Arnott 
S Chamberlain 
K Blakey 
O Davey (Vice-Chairman) 
B Ingham 
K McLauchlan 
I Thomas 
 
Councillors also present (for some or all the meeting) 
M Armstrong 
J Bailey 
D Bickley 
K Bloxham 
S Bond 
C Brown 
B De Saram 
P Faithfull 
C Gardner 
I Hall 
S Hawkins 
S Jackson 
V Johns 
G Jung 
F King 
J Loudoun 
P Millar 
H Parr 
G Pook 
V Ranger 
M Rixson 
J Rowland 
B Taylor 
E Wragg 
 
Officers in attendance: 
Ed Freeman, Service Lead Strategic Planning and Development Management 
Mark Williams, Chief Executive 
Shirley Shaw, Planning Barrister 
Henry Gordon Lennox, Strategic Lead Governance and Licensing 
Andrew Wood, Service Lead - Growth Development and Prosperity 
Wendy Harris, Democratic Services Officer 
Alethea Thompson, Democratic Services Officer 
Susan Howl, Democratic Services Manager 
Tim Spurway, Planning Officer (GESP) 
 
Councillor apologies: 
 
 

page 9



Strategic Planning Committee 23 July 2020 
 

 
 
 
 

Chairman   Date:  

 

page 10



Report to: Strategic Planning Committee 

 

Date of Meeting: 16 September 2020 

Public Document: Yes 

Exemption: None 

Review date for 
release 

None  

 

Subject: Changes to the current planning system – August 2020 
consultation – proposed response 

Purpose of report: The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government have 
issued a consultation document titled “Changes to the current planning 
system”. This report outlines some of the potential implications of the 
proposed changes, and seeks to agree the Council’s response to the 
consultation. 

Recommendation: The committee note the report and agree the proposed responses 
to the consultation  

Reason for 
recommendation: 

To ensure the Council play an active part in influencing future 
Government policy 

Officer: Ed Freeman, Service Lead, Planning Strategy and Development 
Management 

Financial 
implications: 
 

Although there are no specific financial implications at this consultation 
stage, as a council with a Housing Revenue Account any reduction in the 
supply and availability of affordable homes and social housing will have a 
knock on financial impact upon our ability to replace stock lost to right to 
buy sales as our replenishment program has been solely through 
acquisition. 
 

Legal implications: It is within the remit of the Committee to agree responses to Government 
consultations on planning related matters on behalf of the Council. 
Otherwise the report does not raise any other legal implications which 
require comment. 

Equalities impact: Low Impact 

There are low impacts associated with the response to the consultation 

Climate change:  Low Impact 
Although the document covers matters related to climate change, 
including the energy efficiency of new homes, the impact of this Council’s 
response to Government proposals is considered to be low. 

Risk: Low Risk 

There are low impacts associated with the response to the consultation.  

Links to background 
information: 

First Homes Consultation:  
Changes to the current planning system FINAL version 
First Homes Consultation Government Response: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/first-homes 
 

 
 

page 11

Agenda Item 7

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/907215/200805_Changes_to_the_current_planning_system_FINAL_version.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/first-homes


 
Link to Council Plan: 

 
The report and changes proposed could impact upon all of the priorities 
of the Council. 

 

The ‘Changes to the current planning system, document can be viewed at: 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/
907215/200805_Changes_to_the_current_planning_system_FINAL_version.pdf  

 

1. Introduction 

 

1.1 On 6th August 2020 the Government (the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government) issued a consultation document proposing changes to the current planning 
system.  This consultation can be usefully read and considered alongside the Planning 
white paper consultation which is subject to a separate report to committee in its own right. 
 

1.2 The consultation on changes to the current system runs for eight weeks from the 6 August 
2020 – 1 October 2020 and invites responses to a series of questions posed within the 
document.  Further on in in this committee report the questions appear in boxed text along 
with a proposed answer also boxed.  It is proposed that the boxed text answers, but not this 
report or any commentary within it, is sent to the Government as the response to the 
consultation of East Devon District Council. 
 

1.3 The document advises of four main proposals listed in its paragraph 2 which are:  

• changes to the standard method for assessing local housing need, which as well as 
being a proposal to change guidance in the short term has relevance to proposals for 
land supply reforms set out in Planning for the Future;  

 
• securing of First Homes, sold at a discount to market price for first time buyers, 

including key workers, through developer contributions in the short term until the 
transition to a new system;  

 
• temporarily lifting the small sites threshold below which developers do not need to 

contribute to affordable housing, to up to 40 or 50 units to support SME builders as the 
economy recovers from the impact of Covid-19;  

 
• extending the current Permission in Principle to major development so landowners and 

developers now have a fast route to secure the principle of development for housing on 
sites without having to work up detailed plans first.  

 
1.4 The remainder of this report considers the bullet pointed items in order.  It is though 

highlighted that in respect of the first bullet point the East Devon housing requirement is 
increased by a massive 67% to 1,614 new homes per year. 
 
 

2 Changes to the standard method for assessing local housing need 
 

2.1 Prior to 2010 the housing requirements for District Council’s (and equivalent bodies) and 
their local plans were set out in higher level strategic plans.  For East Devon District Council 
they were for many years set out in various iterations of the Devon Structure Plan.  This 
was a plan produced by Devon County Council for the whole county and it was to be 
superseded by South West Regional Spatial Strategy (a plan covering the south west 

page 12

https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/gvUqCJQYKsOBJVFVb5xu?domain=assets.publishing.service.gov.uk
https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/gvUqCJQYKsOBJVFVb5xu?domain=assets.publishing.service.gov.uk


region from Gloucestershire down to Cornwall); this regional plan was started but did not 
make it to adoption. 
 

2.2 In 2010 the Conservative/Liberal Democratic Party coalition Government set about 
abolishing the Regional Spatial Strategy tier of plan making and with this handed the task of 
determining relevant housing numbers for local plans back to the local plan making 
authority, in our case to East Devon District Council.  There was, however, guidance on 
how housing numbers should be established. 
 

2.3 The determination of housing numbers at the individual local planning authority level fitted 
in with the then localism agenda though it was criticised in some quarters, especially as the 
decade progressed, as leading to complex exercises in establishing appropriate numbers of 
houses to plan for and then for lengthy drawn out debate at local plan examinations over 
the approaches used and conclusions reached. 
 

2.4 In 2018 the Government implemented a standardised ‘top-down’ methodology for 
establishing minimum housing numbers for local authorities to plan for.  Whilst it use was 
not absolutely binding the clear expectation was for its application.   Under this 
methodology, including with a subsequent updating, there is a need for East Devon District 
Council to plan for an annual average of at least 900 new homes a year.  This is a capped 
figure applicable for 5 year after the local plan adoption.  The local plan was adopted in 
January 2016 so from February 2021 onward the cap is lifted and this increases the need 
figure to an annual average of 918 new homes per year. 
 

2.5 The methodology used for calculating the current requirement starts off by looking at future 
projected birth and death rates in the local authority population and overlays this with 
information on projected numbers of people moving into the area and projected numbers 
moving out.  Future in and out migration figures are drawn from trend patterns seen in 
recent years.  From the projected future population levels the change in the number of 
households is calculated and this is translated into the starting point for a future house 
building need.   
 

2.6 It should be noted that the above steps are quite standard and have been widely used for 
measuring future housing needs for many years. They can, however, be augmented by 
building in additional factors such as increased provision to take account of affordability of 
housing, in essence seeking to build more homes to increase overall supply with the 
desired outcome of seeing decreases in prices, or at least price rises not being so sharp.  In 
the case of the current East Devon local plan we undertook an exercise in assessing 
projected future job numbers in the District and increased housing provision so that there 
would be a sufficient number of economically active people resident in the District to fill 
available projected employment levels.  Work by Edge Analytics in 2015 – for East Devon 
District Council – ‘Demographic Scenarios – policy–on sub-scenario’ informed an 
objectively assessed housing need figure of 950 new homes per year. The population of 
East Devon is projected (under this housing provision) to grow, drawing from background 
data supporting the Edge Analytics work, from 134,898 persons in mid-2013 to 165,458 
persons in mid-2031. 
 

2.7 The current national methodology for determining housing numbers uses the demographic 
approach summarised above and it adds in an affordability uplift.  The affordability uplift is 
calculated by comparing wage levels to house prices to generate a multiplier factor.  It was 
this process that generated the 900 homes (as capped) and 918 (not capped) for East 
Devon.  However, a key problem with the current approach, in Government’s eyes, is that it 
falls someway short of generating an England wide figure of 300,000 new homes per year.  
The Government has set its aspirations on seeing an average of 300,000 new homes built 
each year, though there is not actually any definitive evidence of need for this level of 

page 13



house building and a number of commentators would suggest a lower figure would be more 
appropriate. 
 

2.8 The proposed new method of assessment for calculating housing provision continues with 
the demographic data starting point but it also builds in a consideration applicable to areas 
that have low demographic generated need (some local authorities in England actually see 
a negative housing need generated using demographic only assessment).  This new 
element is based on assessment that looks at existing housing stock and applies an annual 
growth figure of a 0.5% increase in dwellings as a bottom line level of provision.  Whichever 
is the higher, the 0.5% increase in housing stock or the demographic projections forms the 
starting point for establishing final housing numbers.  In East Devon the demographic 
projections exceed the 0.5% so this percentage minimum is not relevant to our equation.   
 

2.9 The proposed new methodology also continues with the former affordability assessment 
methodology that adds an uplift to figures using an equation that compares workplace-
based median house prices to median earnings (a median value is the point in a range of 
values where half the total values are above the mid-point (the median) and half are below).  
Where the ratio of earning to house prices is greater than 4 an uplift is applied to the overall 
level of housing provision.  However, the new methodology also adds in a second 
adjustment that compares houses prices to earnings ratios now with the corresponding data 
for ten years ago.  Where the price to earnings ratio has gone down the housing 
requirement figure goes down and where it has increased the housing requirement figure 
does up. 
 

2.10 The Government advocate the new approach, amongst other matters, on account of an 
aspiration to encourage more home ownership and they see a relationship between the 
numbers of homes built and their price, at a lower price they would see more people buying 
homes (as opposed to renting, living with parents, house sharing or some other 
arrangement).  In conventional economic theory the price of a commodity is a product of 
supply and demand with increasing supply expected to reduce price. However, a number of 
commentators question the degree to which any increase in supply of new homes, if built 
(and this may be a big ‘if’), will impact on price of housing.  It is suggested by some that the 
cost of and access to borrowing and wage levels are far more important factors in 
influencing houses prices and therefore the affordability of housing.  
 

2.11 The new methodology generates a total England wide housing figure of 337,000 new 
homes per year.  Whilst the Government set out a logic for their new methodology it is very 
close to the 300,000 previously stated government target for house building which 
appeared to have no basis in evidence when announced. The government have stuck to 
this target despite household projections falling from around 214,000 per year based on 
2014 figures to 168,000 per year based on 2018 figures. Some would argue that this is the 
case because household are unable to form because of a lack of housing, however 
population projections are also dropping and so logically the national need for housing is 
dropping not rising.  
 

2.12 Unlike the previous methodology there is no cap placed on the upper limit of houses that 
any planning authority should be planning for; the number the formula generates is the 
number that should be planned for.  However, and rather confusingly, the housing white 
paper appears to be contradictory in so far as it alludes to constraints being a factor that 
may be used in the future to moderate end housing numbers.  The white paper does not 
include any real details of how constraints may be measured or applied in respect of any 
calculations, or by whom or when or how they might work. 
 

2.13 In respect of applying the housing numbers there are transition arrangements proposed for 
authorities in the process of, and quite far advanced, in producing a new local plan but 

page 14



these would not appear relevant to East Devon as we are right at the beginning of plan 
making work. 
 

2.14 Rather oddly the Government have not published (at least not to our knowledge) the 
housing requirement outcomes on a local authority by local authority basis, though they 
must know the answers as they advise of a collective outcome from the work being 337,000 
new homes, they also set out some though limited commentary on the pattern of overall 
distribution. 
 

2.15 Whilst the Government do not provide separate planning authority numbers the planning 
consultancy firm, Lichfield’s, have published their own assessment, see: 
https://lichfields.uk/media/6119/govt-planning-reform-tables-aug20-4.jpg 
Drawing on the Lichfield’s assessment applying the new proposed method for calculating 
housing requirements increases the East Devon figure from 928 dwellings per year (this 
number will apply after January 2021) to a new requirement of 1,614 per year. This 
amounts to an increase of 67% which by any standards can only be seen as a staggeringly 
high increase on top of what was a high level anyway.  Noting that one reason why current 
housing requirements in East Devon are on the higher side is that recent high levels of 
house building have resulted in greater levels of inward migration into the District and these 
have fed through into demographic data assessment indicating that more homes are 
needed in the future. 
 

2.16 It is helpful to look back into past housing numbers to gain a picture of how housing 
requirements in East Devon have changed over time in policy documents, these are tabled 
below. 
 

Planning policy document Annual average housing 
requirement for East Devon 

The old Local Plan – 1995 to 2011 
385 

Devon Structure Plan – 2001 to 2016 
563 

South West Regional Spatial Strategy (draft at 
July 2008) 

855 

East Devon Local Plan 2016 to 2031 
950 

Current national Government methodology 
(the uncapped East Devo figure) 

918 

Proposed new Government national 
methodology 

1,614 

 
 

2.17 Potential implications for this Council - There is, of course, much scope for debate over 
where decision making powers should rest in the relationship between central and local 
Government.  However, under white paper proposals, when it comes to housing number 
assessment, there is no ambiguity in Government thinking on the matter, they clearly 
believe that the level of provision is not a matter for local debate or discretion (unless a 
planning authority wishes to plan for more houses).  On a more practical level, however, are 
matters related to a housing requirement of 1,614 homes per year, these include: 
 

 if, how and where dwellings can sensibly be planned for or allowed; 

 what are the wider impacts of this scale of development; and 

 will the levels proposed actually be built and if not what are the implications. 
 

page 15

https://lichfields.uk/media/6119/govt-planning-reform-tables-aug20-4.jpg


2.18 It must be seriously questioned whether the number of houses for East Devon, and 
surrounding areas, even if credible land could be allocated for their development, will 
actually be built.  Although it is difficult to highlight testable evidence to establish the point a 
charge is often levied that the house building industry (specifically the volume builders) 
manage (which means supress) overall development levels in order to keep new house 
prices higher and thereby maximise profits.  If there is validity in this argument it could be 
that the development industry will not have any real interest in building at the scale 
envisaged. But even if there is no validity in this argument it must be seriously questioned 
whether there would be sufficient numbers of people wishing to buy or rent a property in 
East Devon and surrounding areas to sustain the level of growth the figures imply. A move 
to greater homeworking my generate greater levels of migration to East Devon but the long 
term levels of migration arising from changes in working practices as a result of the current 
pandemic are unknown. 
 

2.19 Even if there is a genuine need for the number of homes that the standard national method 
now generates there must be serious questions over whether there is sufficient capacity in 
the district to accommodate these numbers. With two thirds of the district designated AONB 
and much of the remainder identified as areas where new housing will have recreational 
impacts on European protected habitats there are significant constraints to growth. 
Furthermore substantial investment in infrastructure would be needed to support the scale 
of growth now proposed.  
 

2.20 The consultation is also unclear about how the new standard method would be 
implemented. Under paragraph 43 the consultation refers to transitional arrangements to 
enable an orderly transition to the revised standard method. The proposals then relate to 
the respective stages of plan production detailed in Regulation 19 of the legislation. What is 
not explained is the relationship between the new standard method and the calculation of 5 
year housing land supply and Housing Delivery Test. If the Council’s housing delivery were 
to be measured against the new higher figure straight away then it would almost certainly 
not show a 5 year housing land supply and we would quickly fail the Housing Delivery Test 
and be required to put measures in place to address the shortfall in housing delivery. The 5 
year housing land supply requirement is proposed to be withdrawn under the Planning 
White Paper however it is not clear when this would be withdrawn while the Housing 
Delivery Test is proposed to continue.  
 

2.21 Proposed response to questions on the standard housing requirements 
 

2.22 The Government pose a number of questions in respect of the proposed new approach to 
calculating housing numbers.  It is suggested that this council express strong objection to 
both the principle of a standard national method for generating housing needs as well as 
the vagaries of outputs that the approach proposed by the Government can generate (and 
has done in East Devon) in respect of creating untenable numbers. 

 

Question 1 
 
Do you agree that planning practice guidance should be amended to specify that the 
appropriate baseline for the standard method is whichever is the higher of the level of 
0.5% of housing stock in each local authority area OR the latest household projections 
averaged over a 10-year period? 
 

Proposed response 
 
The correct methodology for determining housing numbers should be use ONS, or other 
authoritative data, on projected future population levels with predicted household 

page 16



formation rates attached to these.  There should be discretion built into the system so that 
local communities and local planning authorities, should they choose, have the flexibility, 
at their discretion, to consider whether they wish to increase levels of provision to reflect 
such factors as: 

 local affordability of housing (whether for rent or purchase); 

 potential aspirations for job growth or regeneration; 

 a desire to see elevated levels of in-migration; or  

 potential partnership working with others to determine housing distribution across 
one or more local authority areas.   
 

This correct approach therefore negates the need or idea for a 0.5% increase. 
 
The 0.5% of housing stock figure simply means that areas that have seen substantial 
growth in the past will see high levels of growth in the future. There is no logic or strategy 
behind this approach. Many factors should be considered when deciding where to locate 
growth including local need, local constraints, capacity of local infrastructure. A formulaic 
approach which fundamentally locates growth where growth has previously occurred is 
fundamentally flawed.  
 

 
 

Question 2 
 
In the stock element of the baseline, do you agree that 0.5% of existing stock for the 
standard method is appropriate? If not, please explain why. 
 

Proposed response 
 
Leaving aside the underlying concern of central government imposing housing numbers 
on local areas and communities the underlying fact is that the 0.5% figure is not justified 
or evidence based.  If the Government are going to establish a percentage figure it 
should be informed by sound logic rather than being an arbitrary number. 
 

 
 

Question 3 
 
Do you agree that using the workplace-based median house price to median earnings 
ratio from the most recent year for which data is available to adjust the standard method’s 
baseline is appropriate? If not, please explain why. 
 

Proposed response 
 
This question should be broken down into at least two parts; 

 the first is the logic (if any) of the approach in principle; and 

 the second is a sense check of the levels of need generated – are meaningful 
numbers fed into a meaningful equation to generate meaningful outcomes.  

 
Taking the first matter, the relationship between house prices and income levels, this 
could be one factor of relevance to take into account in understanding the affordability of 
housing and the possible impacts of building more homes.  However, given the stated 
Government drive of wishing to see the comparative price of houses fall the Government 
should establish, with empirical evidence, the quantified degree to which prices can be 
expected to fall given potential levels of development.  This should be set within a wider 
assessment of measures that determine and inform house prices overall and specific 

page 17



attention should be given to Government actions and interventions that could be relevant 
in establishing a more equitable housing market.  Building more houses is likely to have a 
far smaller impact on houses prices than other interventions the Government could 
undertake.  Furthermore, it needs to be recognised that not all people will want to 
purchase a property and as such the comparative cost of renting should also be taken 
into account in determining appropriate levels of house building. 
 
What the crudeness of just looking at the relationship between houses prices and 
earnings fails to address is, of course, any attempt to measure the level of real need (or 
even desire) for housing in any locality.  There can be lots of places where prices are 
high but there is not necessarily a high demand or requirement for homes for those 
unable to afford prevailing market prices.  It can be the mix of housing types, commutable 
access to places with high paying jobs or just that they are nice places to live that 
determine, in a market situation, the cost of housing.  The onus should rest on real 
evidence being used to determine how many people cannot afford market housing (for 
rent or purchase) in any locality and the emphasis should be placed on then finding the 
best targeted solutions to actually meet their needs.   
 
Turning to the second matter and going beyond the principle of looking to median 
house prices to median earnings, and in some manner including these into an equation, 
is the issue of do outcomes generated make any kind of meaningful sense.  For many 
local authorities in the country the answer would definitely appear no. In the case of East 
Devon the housing requirement number increase by 67% (up from 928 to 1,614 houses 
per year).  It is very difficult to see there being enough people in the country that would 
want or be compelled to move to East Devon to fill this number of houses – this is 
specifically so given the scale of development that the figures generate for many other 
local authorities with similar characteristics and in similar locations to East Devon. One of 
the very clear vagaries of the proposed Government methodology, as it stands, is that it 
generates, in some locations at least, numbers that completely lack any credibility or 
reasonableness.  East Devon sees a massive increase in housing numbers generated by 
the new methodology and this is a far from unique outcome.  Of the planning authorities 
that abut East Devon the following changes occur. 
 

Local Authority 

Number under 
current 

methodology 

Number under 
new 

methodology 
Numerical 

change 
Percentage 

change 

East Devon 918 1,614 696 76% 

South Somerset 685 612 -73 -11% 

Somerset West and Taunton 691 1,231 540 78% 

Dorset 1,790 2,075 285 16% 

Exeter 625 694 69 11% 

Mid Devon 367 641 274 75% 

Teignbridge 758 1,532 774 102% 

Totals 5,834 8,399 2,565 44% 

 
Short of a massive boon in jobs in our part of England  or there being some other 
compelling reason why people will move here, it is extremely difficult to see anything 
approaching a market of sufficient size to see these levels of houses built.  A quick review 
of overall numbers indicates that many other parts of southern England, in particular, also 
see extremely high levels of housing. These are in contrast to parts of northern England 
where much more modest growth is envisaged through the standard method despite 
these areas forming the “northern powerhouse” that the government has been keen to 
encourage and promote.   
 

page 18



In the case of East Devon recent research for the Council undertaken by the consultancy 
firm ORS shows that to meet trend based needs there is a need for 757 dwelling a year 
and to address pent-up demand a need for 59 dwellings a year, giving a total of 816 
dwellings per year.  Deducting this figure from a district total of 1,614 implies that 798 
households would need to move in to East Devon each year over and above established 
trends. This level of increase is simply not a credible prediction and much less so a 
credible policy response when it comes to planning for housing provision.   
 
A notable point as the Government does not have a plan for England and less so one that 
is open to scrutiny or challenge through plan making mechanisms.  Should the 
Government seriously consider that these kinds of increases are sensible they should set 
them out in a plan under a mechanism that is open to testing and challenge. 
 

 

 
Question 4 
 
Do you agree that incorporating an adjustment for the change of affordability over 10 
years is a positive way to look at whether affordability has improved? If not, please 
explain why. 
 

Proposed response 
 
In answering Question 2 information is provided on the issues of suitability and the 
formulas used to adjust housing numbers overall to arrive at appropriate numbers.  In 
summary the formulas used by Government in generating housing requirements lead to 
some absurd conclusions, this indicates that the approach is clearly flawed. 
 

 

 

Question 5 
 
Do you agree that affordability is given an appropriate weighting within the standard 
method? If not, please explain why. 
 

Proposed response 
 
Affordability can be one relevant factor that can be used to inform housing numbers.  But 
its application, and the way it features in any equation, must be sense checked against 
the robustness and reasonableness of any outcomes generated.  If, as used at present, it 
generates absurd outcomes then it is either being mishandled or is inappropriate (or 
probably both). 
 

 
 

Question 6 
 
Do you agree that authorities should be planning having regard to their revised standard 
method need figure, from the publication date of the revised guidance, with the exception 
of: 
 
Authorities which are already at the second stage of the strategic plan consultation 
process (Regulation 19), which should be given 6 months to submit their plan to the 
Planning Inspectorate for examination? 

page 19



 

Proposed response 
 
The consultation materials only refer to transitional arrangements for authorities whose 
local plan is already in production and has reached one of the Regulation 19 consultation 
stages. Further transitional arrangements should be made in relation to the application of 
the housing delivery test so that authorities that have seen an increase in their standard 
method need figure are not penalised at least in the short term for not meeting a need 
figure that they had no prior knowledge and no ability to plan for. Similarly measures 
should be taken with regard to the calculation of 5 year housing land supply where the 
relevant local plan is out of date so that the calculation is not immediately against the new 
standard method figures.  
 

 

 

Question 7 
 
Do you agree that authorities should be planning having regard to their revised standard 
method need figure, from the publication date of the revised guidance, with the exception 
of: 
 
Authorities close to publishing their second stage consultation (Regulation 19), which 
should be given 3 months from the publication date of the revised guidance to publish 
their Regulation 19 plan, and a further 6 months to submit their plan to the Planning 
Inspectorate? 
 

Proposed response 
 
The consultation materials only refer to transitional arrangements for authorities whose 
local plan is already in production and has reached one of the Regulation 19 consultation 
stages. Further transitional arrangements should be made in relation to the application of 
the housing delivery test so that authorities that have seen an increase in their standard 
method need figure are not penalised at least in the short term for not meeting a need 
figure that they had no prior knowledge and no ability to plan for. 
 

 

 

 
3 Delivering First Homes 

 
3.1 The government previously consulted on its First Homes proposals in February 2020 

covering the design of the scheme and changes to the planning system to deliver it. The 
proposal is to deliver homes for first time buyers at 30% discount off market value.  
 

3.2 The current consultation details a government intent to set out policy that a minimum of 
25% of all affordable homes secured through developer contributions should be First 
Homes to initially be secured through Section 106 agreements. These would be delivered 
on-site in the majority of cases but the approach would also apply in cases where a 
financial contribution is accepted instead. 
 

3.3 The consultation acknowledges that each authority has its own affordable housing policy at 
present which has been determined to be viable and so the proposed new system seeks to 
capture the same amount of value from the development as would be captured under the 
existing local authority policy. In the case of East Devon we have a policy position in 

page 20



Strategy 34 that seeks 70% of the affordable units to be social or affordable rent 
accommodation and 30% intermediate or other affordable housing. The government 
expectation is that the value captured under this policy could be calculated and we would 
be required to deliver 25% of the affordable units as First Homes and then distribute the 
remaining value to deliver other affordable housing products. The consultation details two 
options for doing this: 
 
Option 1 – Distribute the remaining affordable housing provision in accordance with the 
local authority policy but with First Homes replacing other affordable home-ownership 
products as a priority. In the case of East Devon this would enable the 25% of First Homes 
to come in-lieu of the 30% of intermediate or other affordable housing. 
Option 2 – A local authority and developer can negotiate the tenure mix for the remaining 
75% of units.  
 

Question 8 
 
The Government is proposing policy compliant planning applications will deliver a 
minimum of 25% of onsite affordable housing as First Homes, and a minimum of 25% of 
offsite contributions towards First Homes where appropriate. Which do you think is the 
most appropriate option for the remaining 75% of affordable housing secured through 
developer contributions? Please provide reasons and / or evidence for your views (if 
possible): 
 
i)  Prioritising the replacement of affordable home ownership tenures, and delivering 

rental tenures in the ratio set out in the local plan policy. 
ii)  Negotiation between a local authority and developer. 
iii)  Other (please specify) 
 

Proposed response 
 
The primary need for affordable housing in East Devon is for social or affordable rented 
accommodation as required by our adopted policies and so option 1 is most likely to 
achieve affordable housing that would best meet the identified needs while also providing 
certainty to the development industry as we would be continuing to follow established 
policy requirements. It makes no sense to leave this open to negotiation when 
established up to date policies can be relied on to direct affordable housing to the tenures 
required in the locality.  
 
There is a significant danger that First Homes will impact on the viability of developments 
and their ability to deliver the remainder of the affordable housing to our policy 
requirements. This is because affordable housing provides developers with certainty in 
their cash flow and a lump sum of cash usually mid-way through construction. This will be 
reduced as first homes will be sold by the developer and rely on the demand for the 
product which we don’t know as there is no need data for this tenure. In some cases RPs 
will pay 80% of market value for shared ownership so the discount on First Homes is 
greater again impacting on viability. The loss of cross subsidy from shared ownership 
homes is a worry for rented tenures and will impact on RPs business modelling meaning 
they will have to find greater levels of subsidy to make sites stack up or will reduce their 
offers. 
 

 

3.4 There are then three questions – numbers 9 to 11 that relate to current exemptions from the 
requirement to deliver affordable home ownership products. These exemptions are: 

 

page 21



(a) provides solely for Build to Rent homes; 

(b) provides specialist accommodation for a group of people with specific needs 
(such as purpose-built accommodation for the elderly or students); 

(c) is proposed to be developed by people who wish to build or commission their own 
homes; or 

(d) is exclusively for affordable housing, an entry-level exception site or a rural 
exception site. 

 
 

Question 9 
 
Should the existing exemptions from the requirement for affordable home ownership 
products (e.g. for build to rent) also apply to this First Homes requirement? 
 

Proposed response 
 
For consistency and given the nature of the housing types that are currently exempt it 
would make sense to maintain these exemptions for First Homes.  
 
 

 

 

Question 10 
 
Are any existing exemptions not required? If not, please set out which exemptions and 
why. 
 

Proposed response 
 
See Q9 
 

 
 

Question 11 
 
Are any other exemptions needed? If so, please provide reasons and /or evidence for 
your views. 
 

Proposed response 
 
See Q9 
 
 

 
Local plans and transitional arrangements 

 

3.5 In acknowledgment that local plan and neighbourhood plan policies covering tenure mix will 
be under review at the time of introducing these changes the government proposed 
transitional arrangements. These would enable local plans and neighbourhood plans that 

page 22



are submitted for examination within 6 months of the new policy being enacted to not have 
to reflect the First Homes requirements. Similarly where proposals being progressed 
through a pre-application or application are at an advanced stage the consultation suggests 
there should be flexibility to accept alternative tenure mixes, however no timescale is stated 
for these circumstances.  

 

Question 12 
 
Do you agree with the proposed approach to transitional arrangements set out above? 
 

Proposed response 
 
The proposed transitional arrangements appear to make sense albeit there should be 
clarity over the period of flexibility in relation to planning applications being progressed for 
the purposes of clarity.  
 

 
Level of Discount 

 

3.6 The consultation states that a 30% discount on market price should be the minimum 
discount and should be set by an independent registered valuer. The assumption is also 
that the home is sold with the same discount in future (i.e. retained at a discounted value in 
perpetuity). Local authorities would have discretion to the discount to 40% or 50% but this 
would need to be evidenced in the local plan making progress. Where the discount is 
increased the minimum requirement of 25% of affordable units to be First Homes would 
remain.  

 
 

Question 13 
 
Do you agree with the proposed approach to different levels of discount? 
 

Proposed response 
 
Yes – It is good that local authorities will have flexibility over the level of discount since a 
30% discount in an area such as East Devon is unlikely to make the homes affordable to 
those in need given the significantly greater disparity between house prices and average 
earnings. It is however unfortunate that varying the level can only be done through a local 
plan as this means that in the interim a large number of affordable homes will be 
available at only a 30% discount and will not meet the identified housing needs of the 
district and will in effect make home ownership cheaper for those who are able to achieve 
this by their own means anyway.  
 
 

 

 Exception Sites 

 

3.7 This section outlines a government proposal to introduce a First Homes exception sites 
policy to replace the existing entry level exception sites policy. This would specify that the 
affordable housing delivered on such sites would be First Homes for local first time buyers 
with some flexibility to allow a small proportion of other affordable homes to be delivered on 
these sites where there is significant identified local need as well as some market homes to 

page 23



aid viability. This policy will not apply in designated rural areas where delivery will be 
through the rural exception sites policy. It is assumed that reference to “designated rural 
areas” refers to areas designed as such for the purposes of the right to buy in Housing 
legislation which is the whole district with the exception of the former urban district of 
Exmouth and the parishes of Honiton, Seaton and Sidmouth. Rural exception sites would 
remain a vehicle for the delivery of affordable housing outside of these areas.  

3.8 It is also proposed to remove the threshold on site size (less than 1 hectare) that currently 
applies but retain the requirements that they be proportionate in size to the existing 
settlement.  

 

Question 14 
 
Do you agree with the approach of allowing a small proportion of market housing on First 
Homes exception sites, in order to ensure site viability? 
 

Proposed response 
It seems unlikely that First Homes exception sites will be viable and deliverable unless a 
small proportion of market housing is included in order to make them sufficiently attractive 
for land owners to release their land for development.  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Question 15:  
 
Do you agree with the removal of the site size threshold set out in the National Planning 
Policy Framework? 
 
 

Proposed response 
No - Without the 1 hectare size threshold and only a requirement to be proportionate in 
size to the existing settlement then a First Homes Exception Site on a large settlement 
could be very substantial in size. In addition there is no guarantee that the First Homes at 
a 30% discount on market value would be affordable to local people such as in East 
Devon where average house prices are over 9 times average salaries. It is therefore 
considered that the 1 hectare size threshold should remain and should only be exceeded 
where there is an identified local need for First Homes that can only be met through a 
larger site.   
 
 

 
 

Question 16:  
 
Do you agree that the First Homes exception sites policy should not apply in designated 
rural areas? 
 

Proposed response 
Yes – It is assumed that the reference to designated rural areas relates to those 
designated as such for right to buy purposes. If so then it is important to ensure that 

page 24



exception sites in such rural locations are specifically tailored to meet identified local 
housing needs and that the type and tenure of affordable housing matches the identified 
need. Otherwise effectively general market housing would be provided in unsustainable 
rural locations and would not constitute a sustainable form of development contrary to the 
aims of the NPPF.  
 
 
 

 
 

4 Supporting small and medium-sized developers 
 

4.1 The consultation paper recognises that small and medium-sized builders (SMEs) make an 
important contribution to overall housing supply noting that small sites typically build out 
more quickly than larger sites.  SMEs are identified as playing a significant role in local 
areas, providing people with increased choice in type and design of housing. 
 

4.2 The SME sector has, however, been declining and was hit hard by the last recession and 
existing firms are under further pressure from Covid-19 impacts.  There are now greater 
flexibilities for local authorities to defer collection of payments for CIL and 106 agreements 
but the proposal now is to further reduce the financial burdens on SMEs for a time–limited 
period.   
 

4.3 In East Devon we seek affordable housing contributions on sites of 10 or more dwellings in 
the towns of Honiton, Sidmouth, Seaton and Exmouth. Everywhere else in the District is 
classified as a ‘designated rural area’ and a threshold of 5 applies.  
 
 

4.4 The Government propose that to stimulate economic recovery with a particular focus on 
SMEs, the threshold for affordable housing contributions could be raised to either 40 or 50 
homes, though in designated rural areas the proposal is to maintain the current threshold. 
Raising the threshold is seen as a means to reduce the burden of developer contributions 
for SMEs, as smaller sites are more likely to be built out by SMEs. The Government advise 
that to ensure that this measure is targeted at the economic recovery phase and does not 
inflate land prices in the longer term, the higher threshold should be implemented for a 
time-limited period and lifted as the economy recovers from the impact of Covid-19. 
 

4.5 In reality, and unless a glut of planning permissions are granted in the coming months, the 
proposals will probably have limited impacts in East Devon.  From the 1 April 2013 to the 5 
July 2019, a six year period there were only 12 sites granted planning permission that fell 
within the 10 to 50 dwellings range and are not in designated rural areas.  Some, where nil 
or only some completions are recorded may come in with new applications as a means to 
seek to circumvent possible existing affordable housing commitments, though a lot of the 
sites will have already been completed or seen substantive progress made.  It is likely that 
in the next year or two (the Government suggest an 18 month initial period for the policy) 
few additional sites in these size thresholds will be granted planning permission.   
 

Question 17:  
 
Do you agree with the proposed approach to raise the small sites threshold for a time-
limited period? 
(see question 18 for comments on level of threshold) 
 
 

page 25



Proposed response 
 
Whilst the objective of promoting SMEs is endorsed we would question the logic 
presented in the consultation document.  There can sometimes be economies of scale 
that can help developers of larger sites but by the same token there can be commercial 
benefits that small scale site developers can capitalise on.  It is not clear cut, therefore, 
that the commercial viability considerations that are briefly touched on in the consultation 
paper actually hold true.  To justify raising the threshold for affordable housing 
contributions a more rigorous assessment of development viability should be undertaken 
and more importantly other options (outside of the planning system) to achieve the 
outputs sought should be assessed. 
 
There is a real need for affordable housing and any raising of thresholds could clearly 
adversely impact on its delivery.  Amongst other matters there may be a need to consider 
viability considerations across the country or on differing typologies of sites before a final 
policy choice is arrived at. If there are other means to support SMEs, outside of the 
planning system, then these should be fully explored, and implemented, first.   
 
It is also considered that there is a danger that the national housebuilders could create 
separate small companies to develop small sites and benefit from this scheme. Measures 
should be put in place to prevent this by ensuring that only genuine small and medium 
size builders benefit from these proposals.  
 

 

 

 

Question 18: 
  
What is the appropriate level of small sites threshold? 
i)  Up to 40 homes 
ii)  Up to 50 homes 
iii)  Other (please specify) 
 

Proposed response 
 
The decision reached should be based on more detailed evidence to justify any 
threshold, as drafted there is no apparent logic for either the 40 or 50 choice and actually 
it is questionable whether there would be any significant difference in going for one rather 
than the other.  Choice of one rather than the other would only be credible if there was a 
marked difference in the nature of developers building out sites at one size level or 
another, or there were marked changes in viability at or around one or other of these 
numbers.  
 
Overall if a policy approach of the type is taken then one objective should be to seek to 
minimise the losses of affordable housing delivery that may occur, this suggests a low 
threshold should be applied, indeed it brings in to question the validity of the policy 
approach altogether, unless genuine evidence on viability is forthcoming. 
 

 

 

Question 19:  
 
Do you agree with the proposed approach to the site size threshold? 

page 26



 
 

Proposed response 
 
As set out in other answers any threshold should be far more fully justified by robust 
evidence. 
 

 
 

Question 20:  
 
Do you agree with linking the time-limited period to economic recovery and raising the 
threshold for an initial period of 18 months? 
 
 

Proposed response 
 
Any amendments should be strictly and explicitly time limited. 
 

 

 

 

Question 21:  
 
Do you agree with the proposed approach to minimising threshold effects? 
 
 

Proposed response 
 
It is vital that large sites cannot be subdivided so as to benefit from these changes to the 
thresholds. To introduce these changes without putting clear and robust measures in 
place would undermine the intention behind the policy by supporting large scale major 
house builders rather than SME’s and would undermine the provision of affordable 
housing which is badly needed. 
 

 
 

Question 22:  
 
Do you agree with the Government’s proposed approach to setting thresholds in rural 
areas? 
 

Proposed response 
 
Yes.  Rural areas have very different characteristics and needs to the urban areas so the 
proposed approach makes sense. 
 
 

 

Question 23:  
 
Are there any other ways in which the Government can support SME builders to deliver 
new homes during the economic recovery period? 

page 27



 

Proposed response 
 
Our understanding is that one of the main challenges facing SME builders is access to 
land with any suitable land of any size likely to be optioned up by major housebuilders 
preventing access for SME builders. This and the inflated values that major 
housebuilders are willing and able to pay for land (often at the expense of the funding of 
infrastructure once viability arguments are made) are what has restricted activity of SME 
builders. Unfortunately none of the proposals put forward by the government in this 
consultation or the white paper seem to tackle the fundamental problems with how land 
for housing is bought and sold in this country.  
 

 

 
5 Extension of the Permission in Principle consent regime 

 
5.1 Permission in principle was first introduced in 2017 as a faster way of gaining planning 

permission for housing developments that initially related to land on a brownfield land 
register but was subsequently expanded to include minor developments of upto 10 
dwellings.  
 

5.2 The idea is that applicants can apply for planning permission in two stages. The first gives 
them “in-principle” consent with issue such as the land use, location and scale of 
development being considered at this stage. Having established this principle at relatively 
little cost they can then apply for technical details consent for the remaining issues safe in 
the knowledge that the principle is acceptable. The two consents together equal a full 
planning permission. This is not unlike outline planning permission and reserved matters 
albeit the information requirements at the first stage are less.  
 

5.3 The government is seeking comments on opportunities to broaden the use of permission in 
principle. It is worth noting that as a Council we have never received an application for 
permission in principle and we have not proactively granted permission in principle for any 
sites on our brownfield land register as the vast majority either have permission or 
permission is being actively pursued. It appears that our customers prefer to use the more 
traditional outline planning permission followed by reserved matters route, albeit the route 
cannot be used for development covered by the EIA Regulations or Habitats Regulations 
which is quite limiting in East Devon.  
 

Extending Permission in Principle to cover major development 

 
5.4 The government envisage widening the use of permission in principle to sites over 10 

dwellings in size. They believe that it will reduce the upfront planning costs and provide 
certainty quickly about the principle of development.  
 

5.5  The process cannot be used for development subject to EIA requirements unless it has 
been screened and it has been determined that it is not EIA development.  Similarly it 
cannot be used for development likely to have a significant effect on a European protected 
habitat such as the Exe Estuary or Pebblebed Heaths.  

 

 

page 28



Question 24 
 
Do you agree that the new Permission in Principle should remove the restriction on major 
development? 
 

Proposed response 
Permission in principle has only served to complicate the planning system and cause 
confusion by introducing a new consent regime that is not widely understood. As a result 
it does not fulfil its purpose of providing certainty to developers and establishing a land 
value that came help them in seeking finance. It has little benefit over the traditional route 
of obtaining outline planning permission followed by reserved matters which is well 
understood as a route and while more costly upfront still appears to be favoured by 
developers. Removing the restriction on major developments is unlikely to change this 
position.  
 
It would make more sense to move to a position where the system is simplified by 
merging the permission in principle and outline planning permission routes into one 
single system using the established terminology that is more widely understood by the 
development industry and the wider public.  
 
Outline planning permission is the more popular route and works well for the industry. 
We have received 39 outline applications since Jan 2019 compared with no applications 
for permission in principle.  
 
 

 
5.6 Any applications for permission in principle should be predominantly for housing but 

commercial elements can be included.  
 
 

Question 25 
 
Should the new Permission in Principle for major development set any limit on the 
amount of commercial development (providing housing still occupies the majority of the 
floorspace of the overall scheme)? Please provide any comments in support of your 
views. 
 

Proposed response 
If expanding to include major developments then it would be counter productive to 
prevent the inclusion of commercial development. Major developments should not just be 
about building housing but be about building communities. Communities should consist of 
a mixture of uses with homes being supported by jobs and retail, leisure and community 
spaces and so these must be included.  
 
Flexibility is needed to ensure that sustainable forms of development come forward and 
so setting a strict limit does not make sense but there should be clear guidance to ensure 
that the majority is housing.  
 
 
 

 

Process for making a Permission in Principle application for major development 

5.7 The government does not envisage making any significant changes to the current process 
for granting permission in principle by application including maintaining the 5 week 

page 29



determination period and the 14 day consultation period. Views are not sought on these 
elements of the proposals.  
 

5.8 It is proposed that the information requirements for permission in principle by application 
would remain the same as for smaller developments with the information required being 
limited to: 
 

 A description of the proposed development 

 The proposed minimum and maximum number of dwellings 

 The amount of any non-residential development 

 The size of the site in hectares, and 

 A brief description of any supporting information that is accompanying the 
application.  

5.9 Views are sought on what if any further information requirements should be made.  

 

Question 26 
 
Do you agree with our proposal that information requirements for Permission in Principle 
by application for major development should broadly remain unchanged? If you disagree, 
what changes would you suggest and why? 
 

Proposed response 
The information requirements for permission in principle for major housing developments 
are woefully inadequate and would not allow for a sound and informed decision on any 
proposals to be made. The problem is that the granting of permission in principle ties the 
authority to the development of the site for the scale of development proposed and yet 
without sufficient details to understand the technical constraints of the site it is impossible 
to make a sound judgement on the scale of the development that the site could 
accommodate and its likely impacts particularly given requirements for developments to 
deliver factors such as bio-diversity net gain, sustainable drainage systems, on-site open 
space and affordable housing etc.  
 
It is not appropriate for major developments to be considered through the permission in 
principle route and the only way of making it so is to introduce the same information 
requirements that are required for outline planning permission for developments on this 
scale and hence making both routes available is pointless.  
 
 
 
 

 
 

Question 27 
 
Should there be an additional height parameter for Permission in Principle? Please 
provide comments in support of your views. 
 

Proposed response 
 
Yes – This is one of many additional parameters for which information should be sought.  
 
 

 

page 30



Publicity Arrangements 

 

5.10 Permission in principle applications are currently only publicised by site notice and including 
the application on the local authority website. In contrast planning applications for major 
developments also have to be advertised in the local press. The government are seeking 
views on whether permission in principle applications should have the same publicity as 
planning applications or whether other means such as social media etc could be used.  

 

Question 28 
 
Do you agree that publicity arrangements for Permission in Principle by application 
should be extended for large developments? If so, should local planning authorities be: 

i) required to publish a notice in a local newspaper? 
ii) subject to a general requirement to publicise the application or 
iii) both? 
iv) disagree 

If you disagree, please state your reasons. 
 
 
 

Proposed response 
Publicity requirements should reflect the scale of development proposed and so they 
should clearly be extended for major developments seeking consent through permission 
in principle. In order to engage with all groups in society the greater use of web-sites and 
social media should be encouraged and the use of newspaper ads phased out 
particularly as most local newspapers would include a story about any major 
development themselves negating the need for a formal press advert at the expense of 
the local authority.  
 
Although views are not sought on the proposed timescales it is considered that a 5 week 
period for determination and a 14 day consultation would be wholly insufficient to enable 
the issues to be fully considered by either the community, other stakeholders or indeed 
the local planning authority. 
 

 
Revised fee structure to incentive Permission in Principle by application 
 

5.11 The current fee structure for permission in principle is £402 per 0.1 hectare of site area 
(capped at a maximum of 1 hectare). The government is however concerned that for larger 
developments this fee structure would lead to fees that are only slightly lower than the 
equivalent outline planning application fee. They see permission in principle as a cheaper 
and more stream lined process and wish to incentivise its use. They favour a banded fee 
structure with a fixed fee per 0.1 hectare of site area in each band such as: 

 Less than 1 hectare = £x fee per  0.1 hectare 

 Between 1 to 2.5 hectare = £y fee per 0.1 hectare 

 More than 2.5 hectares capped at a maximum = £z fee per 0.1 hectare capped 
 

Question 29 
 
Do you agree with our proposal for a banded fee structure based on a flat fee per 
hectarage, with a maximum fee cap? 
 

Proposed response 
page 31



 
The fee structure for planning and related applications is fundamentally broken as the 
fees do not cover the cost of delivering the service and so the funding of council planning 
departments puts a strain on core budgets leading to them often being under resourced 
out of necessity with consequential impacts on the quality and speed of service provided. 
It is not therefore relevant to measure the fee for a major permission in principle 
application against a flawed fee for an equivalent outline planning application. The fee 
structure should be completely overhauled and fees set at the local level on a cost 
recovery basis. It is only through a fundamental change in approach like this that you will 
ensure that planning services are properly funded and a new planning system can be 
properly resourced and operate effectively.  
 
In the event that amounts that reflect the true cost of processing these applications can 
be identified then a banded fee structure such as that proposed makes sense.  
 
 

 
 

Question 30 
 
What level of flat fee do you consider appropriate, and why? 
 

Proposed response 
 
See answer to Q29 – a fee should be set at the local level on a cost recovery basis.  
 
 

 

 

Brownfield Land Registers and Permission in Principle 

 

5.12 The council is required to publish a brownfield land register part 1 of which contains a list of 
brownfield sites which are appropriate for residential development; and part 2 consists of 
sites from part 1 that the Council has granted permission in principle for.  

 

5.13 The government wishes to ensure that the brownfield land register remains a single source 
of information for developers on brownfield land.  

 

Question 31 
 
Do you agree that any brownfield site that is granted Permission in Principle through the 
application process should be included in Part 2 of the Brownfield Land Register? If you 
disagree, please state why. 
 
 

Proposed response 
Yes - Agree 
 
 

 
 
Additional guidance to support implementation 

page 32



5.14 The government acknowledges that the permission in principle by application consenting 
route is not well understood by landowners, developers or local planning authorities and is 
seeking comments on further guidance that could be provided to assist.   

 

Question Q32 
 
What guidance would help support applicants and local planning authorities to make 
decisions about Permission in Principle? Where possible, please set out any areas of 
guidance you consider are currently lacking and would assist stakeholders. 
 

Proposed response 
The permission in principle by application route is pointless and simply adds to the layers 
of legislation and guidance that cause confusion and misunderstandings about the 
planning system. If the government is serious about simplifying and streamlining the 
planning system then it should abandon permission in principle by application and simply 
update the outline planning permission route to serve this purpose. The outline planning 
permission and reserved matters route is long established and well understood and it is 
not a surprise that land owners and developers see little benefit in gaining permission in 
principle instead.   
 
 

 

 Regulatory Impact Assessment 

5.15 This is an assessment of the impact of the proposed changes on the regulatory burden on 
business, charities or voluntary bodies. The government are seeking comments to inform a 
cost/benefit analysis of the proposals.  

 

Question Q33 
 
What costs and benefits do you envisage the proposed scheme would cause? Where you 
have identified drawbacks, how might these be overcome? 
 
 

Proposed response 
The proposed scheme would add to the administrative burden of local planning 
authorities by introducing a further consenting regime which has little benefit to the 
development industry over that already provided by outline planning permission. This is 
illustrated by the poor take up of permission in principle applications.  
 
The proposed fee structure is likely to place additional costs on local planning authorities 
as they will not recover the cost of delivering the service.  
 
These concerns can be overcome by withdrawing permission in principle by application 
entirely rather than expanding it to include major developments.  
 
 

 
 

Question Q34 
 
To what extent do you consider landowners and developers are likely to use the 
proposed measure? Please provide evidence where possible. 
 

page 33



Proposed response 
The wont. We have yet to receive an application for permission in principle.  
 
 

 
 

6 Equalities 
 

6.1 Like all public authorities the government is required to have due regard to the need to 
eliminate unlawful discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations.  

 

 

Question 35 
 
In light of the proposals set out in this consultation, are there any direct or indirect 
impacts in terms of eliminating unlawful discrimination, advancing equality of opportunity 
and fostering good relations on people who share characteristics protected under the 
Public Sector Equality Duty?  
 
If so, please specify the proposal and explain the impact. If there is an impact – are there 
any actions which the department could take to mitigate that impact? 
 

Proposed response 
None 
 
 

 

page 34



Report to: Strategic Planning Committee 

 

Date of Meeting: 16 September 2020 

Public Document: Yes 

Exemption: None 

Review date for 
release 

None  

 

Subject: Planning White Paper- Implications and proposed response 

Purpose of report: The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government have 
issued a consultation document titled “Planning for the future”. This 
report outlines some of the potential implications of the proposed 
changes to the planning system for the District, and seeks to agree the 
Council’s response to the consultation. 

Recommendation: The committee note the report and agree the proposed responses 
to the consultation  

Reason for 
recommendation: 

To ensure the Council play an active part in influencing future 
Government policy 

Officer: Ed Freeman, Service Lead, Planning Strategy and Development 
Management 

Financial 
implications: 
 

There are no specific financial implications on which to comment at this 
consultation stage.  Any proposals which are adopted in future which 
impact the income levels and subsequent budgetary requirements of the 
service will be considered in order to achieve a balanced budget. 
 

Legal implications: It is within the remit of the Committee to agree responses to Government 
consultations on planning related matters on behalf of the Council. 
Otherwise the report does not raise any other legal implications which 
require comment. 

Equalities impact: Low Impact 

There are low impacts associated with the response to the consultation 

Climate change:  Low Impact 
Although the document covers matters related to climate change, 
including the energy efficiency of new homes, the impact of this Council’s 
response to Government proposals is considered to be low. 

Risk: Low Risk 

There are low impacts associated with the response to the consultation.  

Links to background 
information: 

 The Planning for the future consultation document can be viewed 
at: https://www.gov.uk/government/news/launch-of-planning-for-
the-future-consultation-to-reform-the-planning-system 
 

Link to Council Plan: The report and changes to National Planning Policy could impact upon 
the priorities of the Council. 

 

1. Introduction 

page 35

Agenda Item 8

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/launch-of-planning-for-the-future-consultation-to-reform-the-planning-system
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/launch-of-planning-for-the-future-consultation-to-reform-the-planning-system


 

1.1 On 6th August 2020 the Government (the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government) issued a consultation white paper (a document that sets out issues that are 
proposed to be included in new legislation) titled ‘planning for the future’.  This white paper 
advises of aims to speed up and modernise the planning system in England.  The paper 
proposes far-reaching reforms that will have large implications for the planning functions of 
this Council, including for both the development of a new Local Plan and the way planning 
applications will be determined in future. 
 

1.2 The consultation runs for 12 weeks from the 6 August – 29 October 2020 and invites 
responses to a series of questions posed within the document.  Further on in in this 
committee report the questions appear in boxed text along with a proposed answer also 
boxed.  It is proposed that the boxed text, but not this report or any commentary within it, is 
sent to the Government as the response to the consultation of East Devon District Council. 
 

1.3 Members should note that whilst the nature of many of these proposed changes are 
fundamental, the information provided in the document often lacks the specific detail to be 
certain of the full implications. The potential implications outlined in this document are 
therefore formulated on the basis of officers’ judgement based on the information provided. 
 

1.4 Alongside this consultation which seeks to achieve large-scale longer term reform, the 
Government have also issued a further consultation on shorter-terms measures that they 
advise are to improve the effectiveness of the current system. These changes are covered 
in a separate paper to this committee. 
 

1.5 It should be noted that to bring about many (but not all) of the changes the Government are 
proposing there will be a need for new primary legislation to pass through Parliament.  The 
stages of work from white paper consultation through to legislations being enacted (and not 
all bills are enacted) could take some time, potentially years rather than just months.  Whilst 
consultee feedback on the white paper consultation will, we trust, inform proposed 
legislation the changes to the planning system will be subject to further fine grained debate 
and no doubt challenge over the months and potentially years ahead.  It is highlighted that 
changes apply to England only and not the rest of the UK where devolved planning powers 
exist. 

 

2 Planning for the future - White Paper 

 

2.1 The introduction to the consultation document sets out how the planning system is central 
to tackling some of the important national challenges that the country faces but argues that 
it is hindered by what it sees as a series of fundamental problems, namely that: 

o It is too complex, which works best for large investors and companies and worst for 
smaller developers, who may lack the resources to navigate their way through the 
process; 

o Decisions are made on a case-by-case basis rather than determined by a clear set 
of rules, increasing the levels of uncertainty, risk and discouraging both innovation 
and land being brought forward; 

o It takes too long to adopt a local plan; 
o Assessments of housing need, viability and environmental impacts are too 

complicated, adding to bureaucracy without necessarily leading to environmental 
improvements or ensuring that sites are deliverable; 

o It has lost the trust of the public, with consultation being dominated by a few groups 
of people and excluding others; 

o It is based on outdated technology, which burdens the sector with repetitive tasks; 

page 36



o The process of negotiating and securing developer contributions is complex, 
protracted and unclear; 

o There is not enough focus on delivering high quality design; 
o It doesn’t lead to enough homes being built, which is making housing increasingly 

unaffordable; 
 

2.2 The white paper goes through some of the recent regulatory changes since 2010 which 
have sought to address some of the above before concluding that the issues of the system 
have been compounded by decades of complexity and argument and so requires 
fundamental change to properly resolve. 
 

2.3 It proceeds to set out a series of ambitions for a new system, summarised below: 
 

o Expect development to be beautiful and create ‘net-gain’ rather, than ‘no net harm’; 
o Give communities an earlier and more meaningful say in the plan-making process, 

using digital technology; 
o Improve user experience of the planning system; 
o Support home ownership with better infrastructure; 
o Increase supply of land for new homes where it is needed; 
o Help businesses to expand with access to the commercial spaces they need; 
o Support innovative developers, including SMEs and self-builders 
o Promote stewardship and improvement of the countryside and environment; 
o Promote prosperity in villages, towns and cities; 

 
2.4 The document then provides a summary of the key proposals contained within. The 

proposals are laid out under what the white paper describes as three separate pillars, each 
tackling different elements of the planning system, these are discussed after this 
introductory material and specific commentary on white paper proposals for zoning, set out 
below.  
 
White paper zoning proposals 
 

2.5 The white paper notes that local plans should provide a clear basis to inform future patterns 
of development.  However, the paper highlights (or at least argues) that unlike in many 
other countries local plans in England do not give the same degree of certainty that 
development, in principle, will be permitted.  Most western countries operate a planning 
system based around the zoning of land which involves determining and specifying, for 
different land areas, uses that will be permitted and rules that need to be followed to allow 
for development to occur.  So long as a proposed development scheme forms an 
acceptable specified use for the particular zone it falls into and it accords with specific rules 
for that zone then development, at least in principle, can go ahead. In essence the role of a 
council or relevant determining or regulatory body is one of checking that rules have been 
complied with rather than making a more detailed assessment and evaluation of the 
proposal.  
 

2.6 In England, under the current planning system, an approach of zoning rule compliance is 
not central to how decisions, specifically determining planning applications, is undertaken.  
In England Local Plans set out policies (some are quite specific and others more open-
ended in nature) and at the planning application stage these policies are taken into account 
and weighed-up alongside one-another, along with national policy and other material 
considerations, with all taken into account, to reach a decision and determine if planning 
applications should be approved or refused and if approved what conditions should apply. 
 

2.7 Perhaps the most fundamental change proposed in the white paper is that the planning 
system in England should move markedly further towards becoming a zoning based 

page 37



system. Though it is important to note that there are many variations on zoned planning 
systems around the world and differing countries, to differing degrees, apply a mixture of 
zoning and use of policies to determine if development proposals should be allowed to go 
ahead. 
 

2.8 Reference above is made to England moving further toward zoning as this does already 
exist, to a degree, in the planning system we currently have.  Land allocations for 
development on a local plan map are akin to being a zone for development as they clearly 
indicate the in-principle appropriateness for policy specified development to go ahead on 
that identified land.   Further, planning mechanisms such as Local Development Orders can 
be made and applied to specific areas and these allow for development types detailed in 
the order to go ahead without the need to go through the full planning application 
processes.  
 

2.9 Whilst embedding zoning in to the English planning system would amount to a fundamental 
change in planning some commentators have suggested that the zoning approach 
advocated in the white paper is, or could be, much more of a compromise and mixture 
between the existing planning system and a zone based system; what is suggested 
certainly seems some way from being a pure zoning approach.  
 
 

3 Pillar One – Planning for Development 
 

3.1 This chapter sets out the key proposals relevant to land use plan making. There are a 
number of more general questions posed at the beginning of the chapter which are directed 
towards members of the public rather than organisations. These are therefore not covered 
in this report. 
 

3.2 Proposal 1 summary - simplified land use plans 
 

3.3 The white paper advocates that all land will be put into one of three categories:  
 

 Growth areas “suitable for substantial development” – which they advise includes 
new settlements and urban extension sites, and areas for redevelopment, such as 
former industrial sites or urban regeneration sites.  They advise “Sites annotated in the 
Local Plan under this category would have outline approval for development” (this 
would be there zoning status – with the zoning classification allowing for specified 
uses, the zoning status/approach may also apply to ‘renewal areas, below, but it 
would appear not to ‘areas that are protected’). 

 

 Renewal areas “suitable for development” - this they advise would cover existing 
built areas where smaller scale development is appropriate. 

 

 Areas that are protected – this they advise would include sites and areas which, as a 
result of their particular environmental and/or cultural characteristics, would justify 
more stringent development controls to ensure sustainability. 
 

3.4 The white paper seeks views on the above and potential variations of these land 
categories. The classification of “protected” (above) seems oddly abrupt and perhaps might 
be interpreted to mean no development would or should be allowed.  This however, would, 
not be the case. 
 
 

3.5 Potential implications for this Council 
 

page 38



3.6 From a superficial review, at least, it could be suggested that East Devon (could be readily 
sub-divided into the categories above simply be changing the terminology in the current 
adopted Local Plan with: 
 

 ‘Growth Areas’ being at Cranbrook and other West End developments;  

 ‘Renewal areas’ being at our towns and larger villages (as defined as falling inside Built-
up Areas); and 

 ‘Protected area’ being everywhere else.   

 Of course with the need to accommodate extra development there would be the need to 
categorise additional land into the growth area and renewal area classifications.   

 
3.7 Proposed response to questions 

 
3.8 In responding to the question below members will need to consider whether they support 

reform of the local plan system in line with the proposals, or whether an alternative reform is 
more favoured or if the current system, perhaps with some adjustments, is favoured.  In 
response it is suggested that this Council advises that it does not support the proposed 
changes for the reasons set out. 
 

Question 5.  
Do you agree that Local Plans should be simplified in line with our proposals? 
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.] 
 

Proposed answer – No 
 

Supporting statement to the response 
 
Simplifying Local Plans to make them more accessible, easier to use and quicker to 
produce is supported. Zoning could enable this to happen however the proposed 
approach appears to be overly simplistic and does not reflect the local characteristics and 
circumstances that make many of the differing parts of England locally distinct. A clear 
virtue of the current system is that it allows for local plan policy to identify and distinguish 
differing spatial areas on account of the range of factors that are relevant to them and in 
so doing can highlight specific concerns.  What is proposed is a blunt policy tool that does 
not allow for more nuanced and locally specific considerations to be taken into account.   
 
The proposals seek to provide the development industry and landowners with greater 
clarity over what would be acceptable in “growth” and “renewal” areas and reduce the 
uncertainty associated with the current system. However in the case of areas zoned as 
“protect” it appears to do nothing to strengthen the protection afforded by the current 
system to such areas thereby giving rural communities no greater certainty in return.  
 

 
 

3.9 Proposal 2 summary - Development management policies  
 

3.10 The white paper advises that given a changed role for local plans, primarily one of 
determining which category (growth, renew or protect) land should fall into, there should be 
much less actual policy wording in local plans.  The White paper states “development 
management policy contained in the plan would be restricted to clear and necessary site or 
area-specific requirements, including broad height limits, scale and/or density limits for land 
included in Growth areas and Renewal areas.”   
 

page 39



3.11 The white paper goes on to advise that the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
would become the primary source of policies for development management rather than 
these being in a planning authorities local plan.  It would be assumed that this would mean 
that the NPPF itself would need to be subject to radical overhaul and would need to be far 
longer.  Though it is questioned whether the NPPF would go through the same degree of 
scrutiny and public engagement that a local plan would in its preparation nor, it is assumed, 
would it be subject to examination by a planning inspector. The white paper does highlight 
possible options for local plans, under exceptional circumstances, to include locally defined 
policies, presumably where it is demonstrable that very specific concerns exist that are 
unique or unusual to a specific local planning authority area.  Though the tone of the 
documents suggests this would be a rare. 
 

3.12 Under the white paper proposals a shift in focus for local planning authority work would be 
towards producing design guides and codes.  These would complement the zoning based 
approach and seek to provide greater clarity on what is expected, in design terms, for any 
development coming forward.  Design guides or codes, if they are to be very detailed and it 
might be read into the consultation that this is the expectation, could however be time 
consuming and expensive to produce. 
 

3.13 The white paper places considerable emphasis on far greater use of information technology 
in the planning process, advising; “We want to move to a position where all development 
management policies and code requirements, at national, local and neighbourhood level, 
are written in a machine-readable format so that wherever feasible, they can be used by 
digital services to automatically screen developments and help identify where they align 
with policies and/or codes.”  An irony being that the form the white paper takes (a non-
interactive pdf document) owes far more to the technology of the 1980s than to a piece of 
work on the cusp of the third decade of the 21st century! 
 

3.14 Potential implications for this Council 
 

3.15 If the NPPF does contain all or most relevant policies for the determination of planning 
applications or proposals there will clearly be far more emphasis on use of this national 
document in the work that the council undertakes.  Government aspirations would seem to 
indicate that work and conclusions would be increasingly automated (we might look to a 
day when a computer, pre-loaded with the rule book, makes the decision on a planning 
application). 
 

3.16 The development management policies of the adopted Local Plan make up a large 
proportion of the document and removing the need to have these is likely to speed up plan 
production as well as simplifying the planning application process. However the NPPF and 
PPG are updated regularly often with no consultation and so the opportunity for our 
communities to be engaged in and inform the policies against which applications are 
assessed is likely to be lost.  
 
 

3.17 Proposed response to questions 
 
 

Question 6.  
Do you agree with our proposals for streamlining the development management 
content of Local Plans, and setting out general development management policies 
nationally? 
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.] 

Proposed answer – Not sure 
 

page 40



Supporting statement to the response 
 
It is often the case that each authority has a set of development management policies 
which have very similar if not the same requirements just using different wording. This 
generates a lot of work at plan production stage and particularly as plans get older and 
become out of date there is a lot of work in assessing applications against both the local 
plan and the NPPF/PPG. Removing this duplication and waste from the system makes 
sense on the face of it, however it is important that local authorities retain the ability to 
have local policies where there are locally specific issues that are not adequately 
addressed by national policy and that there is suitable consultation on the national 
development management policies.  
 

 
 

3.18 Proposal 3 summary - Sustainable development test 
 

3.19 The white paper proposes that there should be a (simple) sustainability test underpinning 
plan preparation. This test would result in: 

 abolition of the current need for sustainability assessment; 

 removal of the requirements of the duty to cooperate (although the white paper does 
say further thought will need to be given to how cross-boundary co-operation will 
occur); and 

 a slimmed down need for deliverability to be proven, this amongst other matters 
would be assumed to mean less emphasis on viability assessment work (a 
suggestion in the white paper is that reserve sites could be identified for 
development so that if the allocated sites are not coming forward then reserve sites 
could fill the void. 

 
3.20 The above tasks can certainly be time consuming to complete though advocates of them 

would no doubt advise they are worthwhile and desirable in the plan making arena.  A 
fundamental difficulty in assessing the proposals is that nothing is said of what a 
sustainability test might or could amount to.  If it replicates the stages of work it seeks to 
replace then it would be a struggle to see what benefits it might deliver. However, if a very 
watered-down test (a bit of ‘box ticking’) then it is questionable whether it will add to 
objectives of promoting sustainable patterns and forms of land use and development. 
 

3.21 Potential implications for this Council 
 

3.22 There are clearly unknown’s associated with the nature of what a sustainability test might 
entail, however simplifying underlying assessment work would be expected to speed up the 
process of plan making.  
 

3.23 Proposed response to questions 
 

3.24 In responding to question 7a below it is suggested that there is insufficient information to 
provide to make full meaningful comment, a default answer of no is therefore provided. 
 

Question 7(a).  
Do you agree with our proposals to replace existing legal and policy tests for Local 
Plans with a consolidated test of “sustainable development”, which would include 
consideration of environmental impact? 
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]  
 

Proposed answer – No 
 

page 41



Supporting statement to the response 
 
A fundamental problem of the white paper, in respect of answering this question, is that it 
quite simply does not provide any detail of what a consolidated sustainability test could 
look like or may contain.  It is very difficult therefore to provide meaningful comment 
suffice to highlight that application of the principles of sustainable development need to 
consider and weigh-up social, environmental and economic considerations in a 
structured, logical and consistent manner noting the importance of both short and more 
importantly long-term time horizons.   
 
In respect of consideration of cross-boundary matters there does need to be clarity that 
interaction and impacts arise from developing (or not developing) across planning 
authority boundaries and mechanisms or actions to be in place to ensure that these are 
accounted for through plan making.   
 
Whilst Government policy may slim down requirements for assessment of deliverability 
they should not prevent a planning authority undertaking this work.  Any responsible 
planning authority allocating land for development should have confidence that proposals 
will come forward as planned, specifically including providing supporting physical, social, 
and environmental infrastructure in well-designed healthy places to live and work. The 
identification of reserve sites does not overcome the need to do this and it is difficult to 
see how development of an identified reserve site could be resisted even if the main 
allocations do come forward and so this will lead to the unnecessary over allocation of 
land for development beyond that which is needed.   
 

 
 

Question 7(b).  
How could strategic, cross-boundary issues be best planned for in the 
absence of a formal Duty to Cooperate?  
 

Proposed answer –  
 
The governments approach through this white paper appears to be to end localism and 
recentralise planning decisions through centrally set housing numbers, national design 
guides and codes, standardised development management policies etc. Despite this 
there does not appear to be any strategy for accommodating growth in England. The 
formulaic approach to housing numbers leads to massive growth in the south and yet the 
so called “northern powerhouse” sees relatively little housing growth. This does not 
appear to align with any form of strategy for growth or government thinking on supporting 
the redevelopment of northern England and shows that no thought has been given to 
where in England and how growth can best be accommodated. It is these nationwide and 
regional decisions that are what the government need to be leading on and leave local 
government to the detail of delivering the government set strategy through local level 
policy making.  
 
The localism agenda has successfully engaged communities in neighbourhood plan 
production and enabled people to get involved in planning in a way never before seen. To 
now impose housing targets and nationally set design codes and development 
management policies undermines that work and work previously underway between 
neighbouring authorities under the duty to cooperate.    
 
The abolition of regional planning and Structure Plans has left a gaping hole in the middle 
of the planning system which the duty to co-operate did not and could never have filled. It 
is national and regional strategies for growth that are needed through which housing 

page 42



numbers can be set with an evidence led approach to growth targets and then leave local 
government to deliver it.  
 
Proposals to abolish the duty to co-operate are also considered to be premature ahead of 
the white paper on local government reorganisation which it is understood is due shortly. 
This could have a major impact on arrangements for co-operation between neighbouring 
areas which will have to continue anyway to enable co-ordinated plan making and 
infrastructure delivery whether there is a duty to do it or not.  
 

 
 

3.25 Proposal 4 summary- Standard method for establishing housing requirement 
 

3.26 There is already a standard Government method in place for calculating housing 
requirements across planning authorities in England, though this does not generate a high 
enough level of house building to meet Government aspirations.  The white paper now 
advises that there will be “A new nationally determined, binding housing requirement that 
local planning authorities would have to deliver through their Local Plans.”  This is quite a 
contrast to the position of the Conservative/Liberal democrat coalition Government when in 
2010 Local Government Secretary Eric Pickles stated: “Communities will no longer have to 
endure the previous government’s failed Soviet tractor style top-down planning targets - 
they were a terrible, expensive, time-consuming way to impose house building and worst of 
all threatened the destruction of the green belt”  . 
 

3.27 There is a separate consultation on the new approach to calculating housing numbers and 
a separate committee report is also to be presented to committee on this subject and other 
more immediate planning reforms.  
 

3.28 The new proposed method for calculating housing requirements increases the East Devon 
figure from 928 dwellings per year (this number will apply after January 2021) to a new 
requirement of 1,614.  It should be noted that the Government have not (to our knowledge) 
published data on housing requirements that the new methodology generates.  Rather this 
information is drawn from assessment work, for all local planning authorities in England, 
undertaken by the consultancy firm of Lichfield’s, see: 
https://lichfields.uk/media/6119/govt-planning-reform-tables-aug20-4.jpg 
 

3.29 The new methodology has been produced within the context of the Government having a 
national house building target that seeks to secure construction of 300,000 houses per year 
and it results in many authorities seeing a significant increase in the numbers they should 
be planning for.  For example, Dorset up from 1,790 to 2,075 per year, Exeter up from 625 
to 694, Mid Devon 367 to 641, Teignbridge 758 to 1,532 and Somerset West and Taunton 
691 to 1,231.  The only authority that abuts East Devon that sees a fall is South Somerset, 
down from 685 dwellings a year to 612.  These collective figures are very significant as it is 
not just East Devon that sees a substantial increase in housing levels (and it’s not East 
Devon taking development that might have otherwise gone into neighbouring authorities) 
it’s a sub-regional scale of development of huge and unprecedented proportions.  
 

3.30 The white paper notes that debate around establishing appropriate levels of housing to plan 
for can be time-consuming and they consider have not resulted in enough houses being 
built.  The standard binding formula to determine housing numbers draws on past trends in 
population change (and not relevant to East Devon also the existing number of dwellings) 
but also draws on affordability data, the relationship between income levels and house 
prices.  The elevated housing requirement level in East Devon is partly a product of recent 
patterns of high levels of house building, with associated population increases being 
projected into the future.  However of greater importance is the affordability of housing with 

page 43

https://lichfields.uk/media/6119/govt-planning-reform-tables-aug20-4.jpg


this, applying the Government formula, being the factor that has really elevated the housing 
numbers. 
 

3.31 The white paper eludes to constraints to development being a factor that may be used to 
reduce overall housing requirements levels, but they do not set out any detail on how they 
would envisage considering what constitute constraints or how they would measure or 
factor these into their assessment work.  A point here is that it is assumed that the 
Government would undertake any moderation work rather than ‘delegating’ it to a local 
planning authority. 
 

3.32 The white paper advises that authorities may choose to work together to distribute 
collective housing requirements across planning authority boundaries.  Production of a joint 
plan could be one way to progress such an initiative.   
 

3.33 As a consequence of the new proposed approach the white paper advises that the five year 
land requirement will be abolished, however, the housing delivery test will remain in place. 
This test compares past housing delivery rates against levels of housing that are required to 
have been built.  If there is a shortfall in delivery when compared to requirements the test 
would be failed and a “presumption in favour of sustainable development” would apply.  
Under this presumption development proposals that are not included within or that are 
contrary to that  local plan may need to be approved, or may gain permission at a planning 
appeal, if they are shown to meet tests of sustainable development (though the 
Government don’t elaborate on what such tests may look like). 
 

3.34 Potential implications for this Council 
 

3.35 In past years there was some degree of flexibility for a planning authority to seek to 
determine an appropriate level of house building in their area, so this flexibility has been 
progressively watered down over the years.  It would appear, under the white paper, that 
there will no longer be any flexibility (unless the desire were to exceed Government levels) 
and in practical terms numbers would be dictated to planning authorities by the 
Government. 
 

3.36 There is, of course, much scope for debate over where decision making powers should rest 
in the relationship between central and local Government and when it comes to housing 
number assessment there is no ambiguity in Government thinking on the matter.  On a 
more practical level, however, are the matter of: 
 

 if, how and where dwellings can sensibly be planned for or allowed; 

 what are the wider impacts of this scale of development; and 

 will the levels proposed actually be built and if not what are the implications. 
 

3.37 Under the current (February 2021 onward) need to provide for 918 dwellings a year (which 
is already quite a high number) it is likely that a new local plan could accommodate this 
scale of growth.  However even sustaining a year on year delivery at this rate could 
reasonably be expected to generate significant challenges, and it’s reasonable to assume 
quite some opposition.  Adding a further 696 (a 76% increase) to give a requirement total of 
1,614 dwellings look to be an untenable number.   
 

3.38 With a figure of 918 homes being built a year most of these would accommodate 
indigenous change in the current resident population and a pattern of in-migration that 
matches those seen in recent years.  However, there would be a modest ‘surplus’ number 
of houses built (if they actually were built) that would imply a pattern of increasing additional 
numbers of people moving into East Devon.  An extra 696 houses a year, on top of the 918, 
implies a very substantial increase in the number of people moving into the District. 

page 44



 
3.39 East Devon clearly has significant constraints to development.  From an environmental 

perspective these include 2/3rds of the district falling in Areas of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty, a Word Heritage Site coastline, internationally important designated wildlife sites 
and numerous buildings and areas of great built heritage importance.  We are also aware of 
significant infrastructure constraints in the district that include capacity limits on the current 
motorway junctions and on transport links with surrounding areas. It would be hoped that 
any constraints assessment exercise could be extended to question whether schools, 
hospitals, social services and other services could be expected to accommodate the growth 
envisaged.  Further to the issues of growth impacting on East Devon is the wider sub-
regional scale of growth and if and how the broader area might change.  Whether it was the 
intent or not, the Government has set out an agenda that on face value presents a hugely 
significant growth agenda for East Devon and surrounding areas, but it does this without 
there being any strategy behind it.  Indeed by their own choice the Government does not 
have, or at least does not publish, a planning strategy for the development of England. 
 

3.40 It must be seriously questioned whether the number of houses for East Devon, and 
surrounding areas, even if credible land could be allocated for their development will 
actually be built.  Although it is difficult to generate testable evidence to establish the point a 
charge is often levied on the house building industry (specifically the volume builders) that 
they manage (which means supress) overall development levels in order to keep new 
house prices higher and thereby maximise profits.  If there is validity in this argument it 
could be that the development industry will not have any real interest in building at the scale 
envisaged. But even if there is no validity in this argument it must be seriously questioned 
whether there would be sufficient numbers of people wishing to buy or rent a property in 
East Devon or in surrounding areas to sustain the level of growth the figures imply. The 
white paper makes no attempt to ask or address this question but without a huge increase 
in employment opportunities, or some other over-riding incentive for people to move to this 
area (wider than just East Devon) it is difficult to see development of the scale envisaged 
actually happening. 
 

3.41 There might be an argument around whether it really matters if a field that is allocated for 
development is not built on, it will still be a field and probably still be used for farming.  
There are, however, a number of flaws to this argument; 
 

 against a housing target that is so high there is a very real risk (perhaps it should be 
an assumption) that housing delivery targets will not be met.  A consequence 
potentially being that planning permissions will be granted on sites that are far less 
appropriate in good planning terms to be built on; 
 

 extra sites that come forward as above are probably likely to be the easier and 
cheaper to develop sites, but also ones that may accommodate higher priced 
houses.  Such development may do little for affordability, but could result in 
development occurring in more environmentally sensitive or otherwise less desirable 
locations. 
 

 by not building in accordance with a local plan (instead having building occurring on 
an ad-hoc basis) planning loses its ability to bring about wider objectives and 
benefits in a coordinated manner.  

 
3.42 Proposed response to questions 

 
3.43 It is suggested that this council express strong objection to both the principle of a standard 

national method for generating housing needs as well as the vagaries of outputs that such 

page 45



an approach can generate (and has done in East Devon) in respect of untenable numbers.  
The wording below objects accordingly. 
 

Question 8(a).  
Do you agree that a standard method for establishing housing requirements (that 
takes into account constraints) should be introduced? 
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]  
 

Proposed answer – No 
 

Supporting statement to the response 
 
A standard approach to generating housing numbers is self-evidently a blunt and in-
precise tool that does not take local factors and considerations into account or address 
relevant local need.  The correct level of housing to plan for in a local authority area 
should be determined by the local authority taking into account detailed local assessment 
drawing on such matters as demographic and migration data and household formation 
rates.  Unconstrained assessment should come first, in the first instance the work should 
not consider whether there are environmental or other factors that may place limits on 
development.  However, such constraints should then be used to test the validity and 
credibility of accommodating the levels of need generated and potential alternative 
options and approaches to development, including working with neighbouring authorities 
in respect of planning for the distribution of development. 
 
It would be reasonable for the Government to set out advice and guidance on how 
assessment work may be undertaken and the assessment should be subject to rigorous 
examination by an inspector at local plan examination.  Local authorities should be 
allowed, and indeed could be encouraged by Government, with incentives, to plan for 
higher levels of growth.  Local authorities should also take into account such factors as 
suppressed household formation and any job generating initiatives they or others may be 
prompting that may lead to a need for more housing to accommodate in-migrating 
workers that will fill new jobs. The affordability of housing should also be a feature that 
local authorities take into account, though it will need to be recognised in Government 
guidance that the best research indicates that merely increasing the supply of homes is 
not a very effective way to reduce their price.  Changes to interest rates or wages are 
likely to have far more of an impact on prices in comparison to increasing supply.  
 
There is also the simple question of democratic accountability and empowering people in 
the local area (specifically voted into the role) to meet and address their needs. It was 
only ten years ago, in commenting on policy of the then Blair/Brown Labour Government 
that Eric Pickles stated in respect of planning changes that: “Communities will no longer 
have to endure the previous government’s failed Soviet tractor style top-down planning 
targets - they were a terrible, expensive, time-consuming way to impose house building 
and worst of all threatened the destruction of the green belt”.  It appears bizarre that the 
current Government could endorse such an about-turn.  
 
One of the very clear vagaries of the proposed Government methodology, as it stands, is 
that it generates, in some locations at least, numbers that completely lack any credibility 
or reasonableness.  East Devon sees a massive increase in housing numbers generated 
by the new methodology, up from an already very high level of 918 per year to a new 
figure of 1,614.  We are in no sense an odd or unique or an outlier case in respect of 
housing requirements.  Of the planning authorities that abut East Devon the following 
changes occur. 
 
 

page 46



Local Authority 

Number under 
current 

methodology 

Number under 
new 

methodology 
Numerical 

change 
Percentage 

change 

East Devon 918 1,614 696 76% 

South Somerset 685 612 -73 -11% 

Somerset West and Taunton 691 1,231 540 78% 

Dorset 1,790 2,075 285 16% 

Exeter 625 694 69 11% 

Mid Devon 367 641 274 75% 

Teignbridge 758 1,532 774 102% 

Totals 5,834 8,399 2,565 44% 

Source: Lichfields 2020 
 
As can be seen growth across the wider area is very substantial, of a scale that if it had 
any credibility it would be planned for through a proper regional or national strategy, and 
such a strategy would need to be logically constructed and tested taking into account a 
raft of planning, economic, social, environmental, infrastructure and other considerations.  
From this would be derived appropriate housing numbers; rather than numbers being 
generated from a formula that is retrofitted around a desire to generate a national number 
that has to exceed a non-evidence based and unjustified total of 300,000. 
 
It is further highlighted that it is quite likely that the development industry will have little 
commercial desire to build this many houses and that this scale of growth implies. It is not 
in their interests to over supply the market and drive down prices. If all of these houses 
actually were built, a massive increase in in-migration to this part of the world would need 
to result to fill them.  It would appear totally untenable to consider that there would be the 
number of people seeking jobs or otherwise wishing to retire to this area to fill the homes 
that would (notionally) be built.  Further, because they won’t be built local authorities are 
bound to fail the housing delivery test and what will emerge is planning by appeal with 
sites, many that may be far from ideal, gaining planning permission.  Such an approach 
to planning undermines the role that planning can and should play in being a force to 
shape and manage development, give clarity to local communities and indeed private 
investors and business, and coordinate infrastructure provision and delivery. 
 
The Council would rather focus efforts on delivery quality housing that meets local 
housing needs rather than a spuriously derived number that diverts resources away from 
our focus and into playing a numbers game which has been shown to deliver poor quality 
housing and consequentially poor health and wellbeing outcomes.  
 
Setting a high figure for housing numbers does not in itself deliver the high numbers 
being sought. History shows that as a country we have only delivered the scale of house 
building now being sought through massive public sector investment in house building 
such as that which occurred in the post war period. It is only through similar investment 
and enabling local authorities to deliver high quality affordable housing that truly meets 
the needs of the local area that the housing crisis will truly be addressed.  
 

 

Question 8(b).  
Do you agree that affordability and the extent of existing urban areas are 
appropriate indicators of the quantity of development to be accommodated? 
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.] 
 

Proposed answer – No 
 

page 47



Supporting statement to the response 
 
The fundamental problem of using affordability as an indicator of levels of need for future 
house building is that it is just not a good or appropriate indicator.  Research indicates 
that increasing the supply of homes is not an effective way to reduce their price.  
Changes to interest rates or wages, for example, are far more meaningful matters to 
address in order to make housing more affordable to those wishing to rent or buy a 
property.  Furthermore, even if affordability had greater credibility, in principle, to inform 
future levels of house building need the proposed standard methodology is remarkably 
crude and it generates housing requirement levels that in some areas bear no 
relationship with any reasonable assessment of need. 
 
Looking at the extent of urban areas, or how many people live there already, and 
increasing the size by a proportionate or otherwise derived amount would be a very crude 
tool to use when looking at suitability and appropriateness for development.  For a whole 
host of reasons some urban areas can be sensible and appropriate locations for higher 
levels of growth and some can be the opposite and not appropriate for growth.  To look to 
the current size as a key determinant of an appropriate future size misses the whole point 
of planning and the logical reasoned assessment, the place making agenda and meeting 
community needs and aspirations that go alongside it. This approach also just leads to 
the continuation of previous trends of growth rather than looking holistically at England 
and where growth could best be accommodated and how the best outcomes for the 
nation could be achieved. The current approach will simply continue to cram growth in the 
increasingly crowded and constrained south rather than supporting the economic growth 
of northern areas.  
 

 
 

3.44 Proposal 5 summary – routes to gaining permission to build in growth areas, renewal 
areas and protected areas 
 

3.45 The white paper advises that: “Areas identified as Growth areas (suitable for substantial 
development) would automatically be granted outline planning permission for the principle 
of development, while automatic approvals would also be available for pre-established 
development types in other areas suitable for building.”  Growth Areas form the highest tier 
of the proposed three zones. 
 

3.46 The implication of the above is that in this zoning category, so long as proposals comply 
with the relevant rules, there would be no need to submit a further planning application to 
test whether the site can be approved, rather planning would rest on resolving matters of 
detail. 
 

3.47 In renewal areas, the middle tier of the three zones, it is proposed that there could be some 
cases where an automatic consent, subject to compliance with the zoning, would be 
granted, or there could be a faster planning application process. 
 

3.48 Over and above these processes for development consent to be established there would 
still remain the option of applying for planning permission for proposals that do not comply 
with the zoning rules, though it is suggested this route should be the exception rather than 
the rule. 
 

3.49 In protected areas planning applications, as applies now, would still be required and these 
would be judged against the policies in (a new) NPPF.  
 

3.50 Potential implications for this Council 

page 48



 
3.51 The allocation of a site through the Local Plan is clearly a very strong indication that the site 

is acceptable to accommodate growth and that planning applications will be supported. On 
the face of it therefore it is not a massive change to infer outline planning permission to site 
allocations, however it does generate a need for an even greater level of work at the 
allocation stage to ensure than previously to ensure that all principle aspects of the site 
have been fully considered as there would be no going back once allocated. This would 
lead to additional work at the allocation stage that would be likely to be potentially time 
consuming and extend local plan production timescales. The Axminster urban extension is 
a good example of where this change would have effect in East Devon with the local plan 
having allocated the site subject to a masterplan. It is only through the masterplan that 
there would be sufficient clarity on what can be delivered on the site to be in a position to 
consider an outline planning application. Under the proposed new system a masterplan for 
a site like this would need to be undertaken prior to allocation of the site and based on 
experience could take many months in itself when proposals considered later in this report 
suggest that the whole local plan preparation process would have to be completed in 30 
months.  
 

 

 

 
 
 

3.52 Proposed response to questions 
 

Question 9(a).  
Do you agree that there should be automatic outline permission for areas for 
substantial development (Growth areas) with faster routes for detailed consent? 
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.] 

Proposed answer - Yes 
 

Supporting statement to the response 
 
In principle this proposal makes sense as an allocation in a local plan should give the 
developer greater clarity than at present and leave only details to be progressed rather 
than a need for an outline planning application and matters of principle already 
considered at local plan production stage to be revisited.  It does however mean that local 
plan allocations would need to be considered in greater detail and master planned at plan 
productions stage in order to ensure that all principle issues have been fully considered 
prior to allocation. This is likely to be time consuming and costly with the need to involve 
expertise that local authorities may not have on staff or at least not with sufficient capacity 
to undertake this work for all allocations. It is difficult to see how this level of work could 
be done for all allocations with appropriate community engagement in the 30 month 
timescale now being proposed for local plan production and without significant additional 
resources being made available to facilitate this work.  
 

 

Question 9(b).  
Do you agree with our proposals above for the consent arrangements for Renewal 
and Protected areas? 
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.] 

Proposed answer – No 
 

page 49



Supporting statement to the response 
 
One of the stated aims of the white paper is to simplify any overly complex and opaque 
system and yet it is proposed that permission in growth and renewal areas could be 
sought through 3 different routes. These are presumably in addition to some 
developments being permitted development and not requiring consent. This is not 
simplifying the process but simply maintaining the already immensely complicated array 
of permitted development rights and prior notification processes that have created the 
immensely complicated and opaque system that we have today.  
 
Simplicity is key to a successful new planning system. The array of prior notification 
processes that have been introduced in recent years simply lead to confusion as each 
has different processes and different matters to be considered and decisions to be made 
in different timescales. It would make more sense to remove these processes and simply 
have one simple planning application route to gain consent where required.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Question 9(c).  
Do you think there is a case for allowing new settlements to be brought forward 
under the Nationally Significant Infrastructure Projects regime? 
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.] 

Proposed answer – No 
 

Supporting statement to the response 
 
Our experience of developing Cranbrook new town in East Devon has shown how very 
difficult it is to get community acceptance of a new settlement being built when it is 
imposed on the existing residents from above. It is vitally important that local communities 
are fully engaged in new settlements in their locality from inception through to delivery 
and in order to achieve this it is important that they brought forward by their local council 
with local representatives fully engaged in the work and able to guide the form and scale 
of the development.  
 
Intervention from above at the national level is unnecessary to get new communities built 
when incentivising local councils to bring them forward in a form that they would be 
content with is a far more acceptable strategy. If sufficient funding were available to 
deliver high quality new communities that will genuinely meet local housing needs with 
the required infrastructure being delivered upfront then there would be much more 
support for new communities. Locally led development corporations provide a route for 
local authorities who are willing to do this and greater government support for this 
approach and funding to help authorities to deliver through this route would be a far more 
acceptable way of delivering new communities.  
 

 
 

3.53 Proposal 6 summary – Digitising the planning process 
 

3.54 Under this proposal the white paper proposes that far greater use should be made of 
information technology in managing planning applications. This, allied with simpler 

page 50



requirements for details to be submitted in planning applications, should speed up the 
determination process. 
 

3.55 In summary, this proposal calls for: greater digitalisation of the application process to make 
it easier for applicants; a new, more modular, software landscape to encourage digital 
innovation and provide access to underlying data; shorter and more standardised 
applications; data-rich planning application registers; data sets that underpin the planning 
system; a digital template for planning notices; greater standardisation of technical 
supporting information; clearer and more consistent planning conditions; streamlined 
approach to developer contributions; the delegation of detailed planning decisions to 
planning officers where the principle of development has been established (Pillar One, 
Proposal 6, pgs 36 & 37). 
 

3.56 From the outset of the white paper, the Government make it clear that they think "planning 
systems are reliant on legacy software that burden the sector with repetitive tasks" 
(Introduction, pg 13, para 1) and that "planning process remains reliant on documents, not 
data, which reduces the speed and quality of decision-making" (Introduction, pg 13, para 1). 
 

3.57 The Government has a desire to harness "digital technology to make it much easier  
to access and understand information about specific planning proposals" (Vision, pg 18, 
para 2) and promises "new digital engagement processes will make it radically easier to 
raise views about and visualise emerging proposals whilst on-the-go on a smart phone" 
(Vision, pg 18, para 2), aspiring to a planning system that is built on "real time information," 
"high quality virtual simulation" and "straightforward end-to-end processes". 
 

3.58 The Government wants to take a "digital-first approach" to modernise the planning process, 
with an emphasis on data rather than documents. There will be support for the Council "to 
use digital tools to support a new civic engagement process for Local Plans and decision-
making, making it easier for people to understand what is being proposed and its likely 
impact". 
 

3.59 Other proposals include that critical datasets, including planning decisions and developer 
contributions, would need to be standardised and made open and accessible, digitally; 
whilst local authorities would work with tech companies to modernise software used for 
making and case-managing a planning application, improving the experience for the 
applicant. 
 

3.60 In the section of the white paper that discusses the Government's desire for "a more 
engaging, equitable and effective planning system," the aspiration for a more democratic 
system is laid out, with technology again playing a big part:  
 

"Residents will no longer have to rely on planning notices attached to lamp posts, 
printed in newspapers and posted in libraries to find out about newly proposed 
developments. Instead people will be able to use their smartphone to give their views 
on Local Plans and design codes as they are developed, and to see clearer, more 
visual information about development proposals near them – rather than current 
planning policies and development proposals presented in PDF documents, 
hundreds of pages long. And existing and new residents alike will gain from more 
affordable, green and beautiful homes near to where they want to live and work" (The 

Change We Will See, pg 24, para 2). 
 

3.61 There is also the promise that "Government will support modernisation of the planning 
process so that routine tasks are automated and decision-making, and plan-making, is 
improved by better access to the data local authorities need" (The Change We Will See,  
pg 25, para 3). 

page 51



 
3.62 Potential implications for this Council 

 
3.63 As with many of the other proposals, the White Paper advocates making a series of 

changes without providing the necessary detail to fully assess the potential implications. 
However, it would likely result in a greater reliance on the Council's IT systems, with many 
officers needing additional training and the potential transitioning to and investment in new 
software. This may also rely on applicants having access to technology to submit 
information in correct formats which in the case of large scale developments from national 
housebuilders etc may be feasible but given that the majority of our planning applications 
are made by householders and land owners through small local agents and architects it is 
unclear how they will invest in and operate in these new systems.  
 

3.64 Traditional report writing would be eschewed in favour of a more visual based approach 
when creating the Local Plan. Key to the whole proposal is just how much the Government 
is prepared to invest in the new technology, or how much would be made available to local 
authorities to invest in their own bespoke systems. Much of the technology appears to be 
untested and the implications unknown in terms of the ability of our infrastructure to operate 
the new systems.  
 

3.65 There would seemingly be pressure to reach a decision on an application in a timelier 
manner, in theory, this should be balanced out by use of the new tech. The white paper 
refers to making the 8 and 13 week timetables absolute firm deadlines with the potential for 
fees to be returned if these are not met or even consent is deemed to be granted if a 
decision is not made in time. The strict adherence to these time limits has always had 
unforeseen consequences in the past with authorities routinely refusing applications in 
order to make a decision in the timescale even if the concerns could easily be addressed. 
Research has established that customers were willing to accept a longer timescale where it 
gave them the opportunity to submit amended plans and work with officers to address 
concerns. Before that we would have refused the application and the applicant would have 
had to reapply and go through the whole process again actually leading to a longer 
timescale to get consent overall.  
 

3.66 Proposed response to questions 
 

3.67 The white paper uses the ‘buzz’ phrase of focusing on “data, not documents” – but what is 
data without being put into context? The focus should be information, rather than data; the 
maligned documents in question possibly put the data into a context that provide that 
information. 
 

Question 10.  
Do you agree with our proposals to make decision-making faster and more 
certain? 
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.] 

Proposed answer - No 
 

Supporting statement to the response 
 
In principle we would support the use of new technologies to engage our communities in 
the planning process, however this would require substantial investment from 
government not just in the technology to enable our own systems to be upgraded but also 
in improving broadband speeds across East Devon so that our residents can benefit from 
this technology. Many parts of the district do not yet benefit from high speed broadband 
and struggle with using the existing technology used for planning applications through the 
planning on-line system and downloading plans.  

page 52



 
We also in principle support the standardisation of data to speed up the planning 
application process where appropriate, including the move towards making planning 
applications machine-readable and the use of standardised templates. However, it should 
be noted that the use of technology will always have its limitations and it is difficult to see 
how technology could make many of the subjective judgements that planning officers are 
routinely required to make when considering the impacts of developments and the views 
of residents. Planning is not and never could be a simple tick box exercise of assessment 
against a rule book. 
 
Making the 8 and 13 week targets absolute requirements or introducing fee returns or 
deemed consents will likely have the unforeseen consequences of forcing local planning 
authorities to refuse applications that could otherwise have been successfully resolved in 
order to meet the target date. In our experience this is not what our customers want with 
many happy to agree an extension of time to enable us to consider amended plans and 
most would acknowledge that this route gives them a quicker route to gaining consent 
overall than first obtaining a refusal and then having to go through the whole process 
again. The needless refusal of applications and subsequent unnecessary reapplications 
or appeals just leads to more waste in the system overall. In addition in the lifespan of a 
development from inception to completion the time taken to secure planning permission is 
a very small part of the total timescale but it is a vitally important one that must be done 
right and must engage the local community rather than be rushed and lead to a poor 
quality development that will be standing for hundreds of years to come.   
 

 
 

3.68 Proposal 7 summary - Standardising Local Plans 
 

3.69 Proposal 7 seeks much simpler and shorter local plans, facilitated in part by development 
management policies being contained in a revised NPPF.  There would be standard 
national templates established for local plan production with a requirement for plans to be 
interactive.  There would be a reduction in evidence requirements to support new local 
plans. 
 

3.70 The white paper advises that Local Plan should be web-based interactive and map based 
rather than paper documents. It says that any text should be limited to “spatially specific 
matters” and capable of being accessed by various means and formats including via smart 
phones. It also refers to the use of 3D modelling and visualisation tools to help people 
engage in the process. It is envisaged that this will open up means for people to engage in 
plan making through social media and other modern forms of communication.  
 
 

3.71 Potential implications for this Council 
 

3.72 If other proposed changes to local plan making and planning go ahead then it might be 
seen as a logical outcome to move to standardised templates for local plan content.  
However the ‘logic’ for standardisation may abruptly come up against the realities of 
variations and need for local approaches that exist across the diverse nature of England. 
 

3.73 If there are affordable and robust software solutions available to enhance plan making and 
consultation there use should speed up and improve overall levels of quality.  However, at 
this stage it is not clear what these systems are, or indeed if they exist.  
 

3.74 Proposed response to questions 
 

page 53



3.75 The suggested response below gives qualifies support to additional use of information 
technology in local plan making. 
 

Question 11.  
Do you agree with our proposals for accessible, web-based Local Plans? 
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]  

Proposed answer – Yes 
 

Supporting statement to the response 
 
Use of greater information technology to support local plan production and accessibility is 
to be welcomed.  Engaging with a younger demographic through the use of technology is 
clearly important in developing plans, however the Government need to be aware that not 
everyone has or chooses to use computer based systems and for many paper 
documents will be far more appropriate and desirable.  There are also many things that 
can be achieved through traditional approaches to engagement and document production 
that digital approaches cannot come close to matching. Ultimately both traditional and 
modern interactive approaches will need to be taken in order to engage all groups in 
society as removal of traditional documents risks excluding groups in society who choose 
not to or cannot engage with these technologies. 
 

 

3.76 Proposal 8 summary - 30 month timetable for Local Plan production 
 

3.77 Proposal 8 seeks to introduce a 30 month (or shorter) timetable for new local plans to be 
produced.  Five stages are identified: 
 

 Stage 1 (6 months) - a call for suggestions for areas to fall under the three proposed 
zones (growth, renewal, protection); 

 Stage 2 (12 months) - the local authority draw up the plan; 

 Stage 3 (6 weeks) - submit the plan for examination and invites public comments on 
it; 

 Stage 4 (9 months) - an examiner considers whether the three identified zones are 
sustainable as per the statutory test) those making comment have a right to be heard 
by the examiner. 

 Stage 5 (6 weeks) – the plan is finalised and comes into force. 
 

3.78 There is reference made in the white paper for statutory time limits to be in place in respect 
of plan making and mechanisms for government intervention should this not happen. 
 

3.79 Potential implications for this Council 
 

3.80 On face value, assuming all other Government changes are implemented, it would seem 
logical that plan production timescales would be very much reduced.  However, as much as 
the white paper talks about removing elements of work from plan production it also adds 
elements such as design coding for allocation sites which is likely to be a time consuming 
process.  
 

3.81 The Government advise that they wish to see more public involvement in plan making.  
However it is very difficult to see how this would be readily achieved through the steps and 
in the timetable that they set out. The timeline appears to allow for public consultation 
primarily when the plan has already been drafted and submitted for examination at stage 3. 
This seems directly contrary to good principles of public engagement and consultation as 
the Council will have determined what is in the plan by this stage and it will appear as a fait-

page 54



accompli to residents. It may be that the Government envisage some public engagement to 
take place at Stage 2 of the process.  If they do then having just 12 months to complete all 
stage 2 tasks could be very challenging – public engagement, let alone evidence gathering 
and plan drafting, could well be expected to take over 12 months, especially if alternative 
land zoning options are to be explored and assessed. 
 

3.82 A more immediate impact for East Devon is that proposals to reform the plan production 
process raises questions about how to proceed with a new Local Plan in the meantime. 
Ideally there would be clarity over the future form of Local Plans and legislation and 
regulations in place before plan production commences, however it seems likely that these 
will take some time to pass through the legislative process which leaves a question of what 
we should do in the meantime. This will require further consideration and will be the subject 
of a further report to Strategic Planning Committee in October.  
 

3.83 Proposed response to questions 
 

3.84 The response below highlights the time limited opportunities for public engagement that the 
timetable imposes. 
 

Question 12.  
Do you agree with our proposals for a 30 month statutory timescale for the 
production of Local Plans? 
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]  

Proposed answer – No 
 

Supporting statement to the response 
 
The Council is in favour in principle of simplifying and speeding up the plan production 
process but this must not be at the expense of appropriate and timely engagement with 
Members and our communities and must not prejudice our ability to develop the most 
appropriate plan for East Devon.  
 
Without further details about the proposed process and the work that each stage would 
entail, particularly stage 2, it is difficult to understand how a 30 month statutory timescale 
could be achieved. The white paper proposals for local plans themselves indicates to 
some extent how time could be saved in the plan production process yet other proposals 
within the white paper simply add to the work to be done through proposals for greater 
design guidance and coding at allocation stage, the potential need to allocate reserve 
sites and substantial increase in housing numbers through the revised standard 
methodology would all add to the number and scale of sites to be allocated and the 
amount of work needed to be undertaken to allocate each of them in the plan. There is 
therefore a clear contradiction between proposals to stream line the plan making process 
and other proposals that suggests that the proposed 30 month timescale while desireable 
would be unachievable.  
 
There considered to be unintended consequences to such a tight timescale that could be 
counter-productive to the government’s aims. For example if the required evidence on a 
particular site cannot be produced in time and there is a danger of the timescale slipping 
then there is a danger that an authority would be minded to leave it out and not seek to 
deliver as many new homes as was achievable simply because of time constraints.  
 
There is clearly a need to speed up plan making but this should not be at the expense of 
quality both in terms of the plan itself and the outcomes that it delivers.  
 

 

page 55



3.85 Proposal 9 summary- Retaining Neighbourhood Plans  
 

3.86  The consultation acknowledges the importance of neighbourhood plans and their role in 
allowing communities to think proactively about how they would like their area to develop. It 
is therefore proposed to retain neighbourhood plans but it states that they would want to 
consider how they can become more focused in order to reflect proposals for new local 
plans as well as how they can use digital tools and data to support their development and 
improve accessibility.   
 
 
 

3.87 Potential implications for this Council 
 

3.88 Neighbourhood planning has been a big success in East Devon with 19 made plans and 
over 20 others in production. Having encouraged and successfully engaged our 
communities in neighbourhood planning it is important that this continues and all this work 
is not wasted. If there is going to be changes to the system that impact on neighbourhood 
plans then it is considered important that the government put in place to enable the quick 
and simple review of neighbourhood plans.  
 

3.89 Proposed response to questions 
 
 

Question 13(a).  
Do you agree that Neighbourhood Plans should be retained in the reformed 
planning system? 
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.] 
 

Proposed answer – Yes 
 

Supporting statement to the response 
 
Neighbourhood plans have proved very popular in East Devon with 19 made 
neighbourhood plans and more than 20 others in production. It is vital that neighbourhood 
plans continue to guide development in the district.  
 

 

Question 13(b).  
How can the neighbourhood planning process be developed to meet our 
objectives, such as in the use of digital tools and reflecting community 
preferences about design? 
 
 

Supporting statement to the response 
 
The use of digital tools in neighbourhood planning will be significantly affected by the 
skills and knowledge available in any particular community and the willingness of those 
with skills in this area to get involved. Accessibility to cheap software and hardware will 
also be key as will improving broadband in rural areas to ensure that communities can 
access new technologies.  
 
A key issue with neighbourhood plans is the need to review them every 5 years. While 
the need to keep them up to date and relevant is understood there is no streamlined 
review process and so communities end up starting all over again even when the 
required changes may be minor. This is understandably frustrating and demoralising to 

page 56



those that have given so much of their time to the process only a few years earlier. It 
would seem to make sense to enable a streamlined review process where changes are 
limited to support neighbourhood planning groups through this work particularly if 
changes to the planning system will necessitate a review.  
 

 
 
 
 

3.90 Proposal 10 summary – A stronger emphasis on build out through planning  
 

3.91  This proposal stems from the findings of the Oliver Letwin Review of Build Out Rates in 
2018 and proposes to revise the NPPF to ensure that masterplans and design codes for 
substantial developments include a variety of different types of homes by different builders 
to allow more phases of development to come forward together. 
 

3.92 Potential implications for this Council 
 

3.93 Cranbrook is an example of a large strategic development that has not delivered as quickly 
as it could have done because of the small number of house builders involved in delivering 
the project and the limited range of homes being built. In principle the proposal to break up 
sites between a wider number of developers delivering different products would make 
sense and could speed up delivery but it is not clear how this could be achieved on sites 
such as Cranbrook that are delivered by a consortium of small number of developers who 
control all of the land.  
 

3.94 Proposed response to questions 
 

Question 14.  
Do you agree there should be a stronger emphasis on the build out of 
developments? And if so, what further measures would you support? 
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.] 

Proposed answer – Yes 
 

Supporting statement to the response 
 
Our experience of Cranbrook new town has shown how a large new community being 
delivered by a small range of housebuilders delivering similar products leads to relatively 
slow build out rates. Any measures that would increase build out but also deliver a wider 
range of new housing and increase competition to improve quality would be welcomed. It 
remains unclear exactly how this is to be achieved as the ownership of land and how it is 
disposed of is key to achieving this. At Cranbrook the first phases have been delivered by 
a consortium of a small number of developers who have had control of the land from the 
early stages. The development was master planned and design guides produced. These 
routes alone will not lead to diversification it is wider process of addressing the land 
market and how sites are brought forward more generally that is needed. Models where a 
development corporation or public body have brought forward development on their land 
and acted as master developer have been far more successful in achieving 
diversification, quality and build out. It is these mechanisms that need to be explored 
further to address this issue.  
 

 
 

4 Pillar Two – Planning for beautiful and sustainable places 

page 57



 
4.1 This chapter sets out the key proposals which seek to improve the quality of new 

developments coming forward. It references a recent publication by the Building Better, 
Building Beautiful Commission, which was influential in formulating a number of the 
proposals. As with the previous chapter, it begins with a number of general questions 
directed at the public which this report does not intend to cover. 
 

4.2  Proposal 11 summary- Design guidance and codes to be prepared locally with 
community involvement 
 

4.3  The white paper reflects on recent and emerging national guidance and expect 3 
documents have a direct bearing on the design of new communities: 
 
- The new National Design Guide (October 2019) which defines ten characteristics of 

successful places 
- A new National Model Design Code to be published this autumn 
- A revised and consolidated Manual for Streets (last published in 2007) 
 

4.4 The proposal is to supplement this broad guidance with local guides and codes to reflect 
locally diverse character where possible. This can be done by: 
  
- Adding a visual dimension to the local plan,  
- Through the work of neighbourhood planning groups  
- Through proposals for significant new areas of development. 
 

4.5 For all methods it would be essential to effectively involve local communities in considering 
evidence of what is popular and characteristic in their area. For guides and codes to be 
given weight, it would be necessary to demonstrate such input in their formulation.  
 

4.6 In the absence of local guides and codes, the above national documents should guide 
decisions on the form of development.  
 

4.7 Potential implications for this Council 
 

4.8 The National Design Guide sets out the broad characteristics of what constitutes a 
successful place in terms of urban design. This is a useful guide which has brought 
together elements of good urban design and place making into a fairly concise and 
readable document.  
 

4.9 Work has started (in-house) to restructure and reformat an emerging East Devon Design 
Guide so that it can be read alongside the national guide. The aim is to broadly reflect each 
characteristic in a local context alongside the Local Plan and demonstrate examples of local 
distinctiveness and good design in a concise document that is accessible to all readers. 
The intention was to reflect local plan policies; this would no longer be appropriate.  The 
National Model Design Code will also impact upon any Local Design guide and this is 
awaited. 
 

4.10 A few Local Authorities in England have chosen to develop local design guides which 
contain detailed design codes. They involve a substantial amount of work, usually prepared 
by teams of urban design consultants working with local authorities over a number of years. 
These types of document have sometimes been criticized for being too prescriptive of 
particular styles or materials thus not allowing creativity and innovation. Due to the detail 
required, these documents by their nature are lengthy (over 200 pages) for general use, but 
more useful for reference. 
 

page 58



4.11 The Local Plan emphasises the critical importance of high quality and locally distinctive 
design, which reflect local traditions and the use of local materials. East Devon has a 
diverse character which has evolved as a unique combination of historical influences, within 
a large area. To carry out a granular survey of what comprises the elements of local 
distinctiveness within the district, translated into a series of local design codes, would be a 
highly time consuming, resource intensive task.  
 

4.12 In East Devon Local communities have been encouraged to prepare local design guides 
and to include policies on local design in their Neighbourhood Plans. A few useful village 
design guides have been prepared by local communities in the early 2000’s but due to the 
work involved this was not taken up by many communities. (The emerging Design Guide 
encourages the involvement of local communities throughout the design process, reflecting 
the latest NPPF, and sets out separately methods of involvement). 
 

4.13 It is likely that work to produce local design codes involving communities would be taken up 
in only a few areas leading to inequalities across the district.   
 

4.14 Digitising methods of involvement and engagement may encourage some sectors of the 
community but it is unlikely to be effective for all groups. For example, many of the people 
with time to be in involved in plans may be more familiar or comfortable with methods which 
are hands on and not reliant on the internet or use of a smart phone.  
 

4.15 In principle, national and local design codes are welcome, in guiding local design. However 
a combination of the intense work involved in producing detailed local design codes and in 
involving the community in such evidence based decisions would be highly time consuming 
and expensive. It would also be likely to lead to differences in the quality of design across 
the district. 

 

4.16 Proposed response to questions 
 

Question 17.  
Do you agree with our proposals for improving the production and use of design 
guides and codes? 
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.] 

Proposed answer – No 
 

Supporting statement to the response 
 
The proposals to publish a National Model Design Code and an updated Manual For 
Streets are welcomed. Proposals to help deliver local design that is distinctive and that 
encourage community involvement from an early stage are also welcomed. Design codes 
would be one effective method of influencing what design can be approved. 
 
However producing detailed local design codes and involving the community in this would 
be highly intensive and time consuming exercises. The proposal would not be possible 
without significant additional resources for their implementation and unlikely to be 
completed quickly. 
 
East Devon covers a large area with great diversity of design and many local 
communities. It is likely that only a few of these communities would have the desire and 
time to contribute to the development of design codes, leading to imbalances across the 
district. 
 

page 59



To be effective, more resources would also be needed to monitor the implementation of 
proposals, especially where large developments are planned involving volume 
housebuilders. 

 

4.17 Proposal 12 summary - To support the transition to a planning system which is more 
visual and rooted in local preferences and character 
 

4.18  The white paper proposes to improve the design skills available to many local authorities 
and to ensure design is given the right priority.  
 

4.19 This would be achieved by  
 
- setting up a body to support the delivery of locally popular design codes 
- each authority having a ‘Chief Officer of Design and Place Making’.  
 

4.20 The paper recognises that his would not happen quickly, Local Authorities would need 
support. It proposes to explore the options for a new expert body to support local authorities 
in the use of design guides and codes as well as a wider monitoring role, which could be: 
 
- An arms-length body reporting to government 
- A new Homes England centre 
- A reinforced network of existing architecture or design centres 

 
4.21 Proposals are to be brought forward to improve the resourcing of planning departments 

more broadly, but there is also reference to streamlining and refocussing existing skills. To 
drive a strong vision, a new Chief Officer for Design is proposed.  
 

4.22 Potential implications for this Council 
 

4.23 The implications are far ranging, in terms of the additional skilled staff that would be 
needed, in both design and community engagement.  
 

4.24 It is not possible to comment further on a new expert body that would be set up without the 
detail of its constitution or how it would operate in practice.  
 
 

4.25 Proposed response to questions 
 
 

Question 18. 
Do you agree that we should establish a new body to support design coding and 
building better places, and that each authority should have a chief officer for 
design and place-making? 
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.] 

Proposed answer – Not sure 
 

Supporting statement to the response 
 
Any initiative that aims to support the local authority in building better places, including 
advice from an expert body and providing resources for new skills is welcomed.  
However it is not possible to comment further until the more detailed options have been 
explored.  
 
Subject to resources, a chief officer with expertise to raise the profile of design within the 
local authority would be welcome. 

page 60



 

 

 
4.26 Proposal 13 summary- Homes England design focus 

 
4.27  The proposal supports the Building Better Building Beautiful Commission’s 

recommendation for Homes England, to 
 
- Attach sufficient value to design as well as price 
- Give greater weight to design quality in its work 

   
4.28 Homes England have already taken steps to champion design quality and can lead by 

example. The white paper proposes to engage with Homes England as part of the 
Spending Review on how to give more weight to design quality and embed it more deeply 
in its work. 
 

4.29 Potential implications for this Council 
 

4.30 For schemes where Homes England are partners, this can only help the quality of design. 
Design standards would be best applied across all types of housing.  The design standards 
that were previously applied to social housing through the Housing Corporation, with grant 
incentives for higher than basic standards were very effective. There may be implications 
for current proposals and for the time scales of future development projects and 
programmes? 
 

4.31 Proposed response to questions 
 

Question 19.  
Do you agree with our proposal to consider how design might be given greater 
emphasis in the strategic objectives for Homes England? 
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.] 
 

Proposed answer – Yes 
 

Supporting statement to the response 
 
Design quality is of great importance and should be given greater emphasis in Homes 
England strategic objectives. The re-introduction of detailed design standards, or 
improvement of existing ones in Homes England projects and programmes is welcomed. 
 

 
 

4.32 Proposal 14 summary - Fast track for Beauty 
 

4.33 Proposal 1. Where development proposals comply with what good design looks like, agreed 
by local communities (through design guides / codes), they can be fast tracked by: 
 
- Providing clarity in the NPPF that schemes complying with local guides and codes will 

have greater certainty of swift approval 
 

- Growth areas to require a masterplan and design code agreed as a condition of 
permission in principle, prior to proposals being submitted 

 

page 61



Masterplans and codes could be prepared alongside or subsequent to the Local Plan, at 
varying levels of detail – in some cases to have basic codes for a site layout with more 
detailed codes prepared (by Council or developer) as sites come forward. 
 

4.34 Proposal 2. Widen and change the nature of permitted development rights in in renewal 
areas, allowing pre-approval of popular and replicable designs by: 
 
- Developing a limited set of development types to redevelop existing buildings (where 

conditions satisfied) enabling increased densities 
 

- Prior approval would still be needed from the Council on context and other planning 
considerations such as flood risk and safe access 

 
- A pilot scheme will be developed to test the concept 
 
- For existing schemes to expand PD rights through upward development and demolition / 

rebuilding, the paper proposes to legislate so that prior approval for existing rights take 
into account local or national design codes. 

 
4.35 Potential implications for this Council 

 
4.36 Proposal 1: the principle of fast tracking proposals that comply with locally agreed codes is 

sensible. However it is dependent on the production of the masterplans, guides and codes 
in consultation with communities, which as explored previously, would not be a ‘fast’ 
exercise and may lead to inequalities across the district.  
 

4.37 Where established, standardised codes have been agreed, leading to greater ease of 
approval in the long run, there would still be a need to review these codes regularly to 
reflect the latest developments in design and technology.  
 

4.38 Proposal 2: In developing a limited set of development types to redevelop existing buildings 
– there is a danger of standardising such design nationally through “pattern books” of 
provably popular design leading to ‘nowhere / identikit housing’ that is already seen in some 
recent development. The input of officers on context and detail would be important. 
 

4.39 For existing schemes, legislating to ensure that PD rights take into account local or national 
design codes makes sense. However if there are no local codes developed this may allow 
for a very broad interpretation of what constitutes good design within that area.  
 

4.40 We need to see the detail of the National Model Design code but presumably there would 
still be much work needed by planning officers on context and other planning 
considerations not covered by a code. For example, new development needs to be mixed 
use, and homes both accessible and inclusive and this may be difficult to express in terms 
of ‘design codes’.   
 

4.41 Proposed response to questions 
 

Question 20.  
Do you agree with our proposals for implementing a fast-track for beauty? 
 [Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.] 
 

Proposed answer – No 
 

Supporting statement to the response 
 

page 62



The idea of fast tracking proposals that meet with agreed detailed, locally agreed design 
codes sounds good. However as previously explored, it is highly unlikely that the process 
to get to this position could be achieved quickly, or equally across a large district. Also 
there would also be a need to review the guides and codes regularly, to reflect 
developments in design and technology (for example in low carbon solutions). 
 
Guidance on redeveloping existing buildings where appropriate in renewal areas is 
welcomed. However there is a danger in standardising building form that our towns 
across the nation will be ‘anywhere housing.’ The input of planning officers on details of 
context would be important and therefore take time. “Pattern books” for popular and 
replicable design that may be acceptable as good design in one local community may not 
be in another. 
 
Research has indicated that the agendas of speed of delivery and quality in design tend 
to be polemic. Experience in East Devon has been that design quality in housing has 
sometimes been lost when delivered by volume builders. 
 

 

 
4.42 Proposal 15 - Amending the National Planning Policy Framework 

 
4.43 This proposal relates to amending the NPPF to include a simpler and effective approach to 

assessing environmental impacts. This includes reference to local, spatially specific policies 
and the role that these can continue to play in issues such as identifying important views, 
improving public access or identifying areas for woodland creation or renewable energy 
projects.  
 

4.44 There is very little detail upon which to identify implications for the Council and no questions 
are asked about this proposal. 
 

4.45 Proposal 16 summary- Streamlined assessment of environmental impacts  
 

4.46  The government acknowledge the importance of properly considering environmental 
impacts but believe that the current framework which includes Strategic Environmental 
Assessment, Sustainability Appraisal and Environmental Impact Assessment leads to 
duplication, overly long reports and inaccessible reports and delays.  
 

4.47 It is stated that a new system will need to meet the following objectives: 
 

 Processes for environmental assessment and mitigation need to be quicker and 
speed up decision making and the delivery of development projects. 

 Requirements for environmental assessment and mitigation need to be simpler and 
consolidated into one place. 

 Take advantage of opportunities for environmental improvement while meeting legal 
obligations for environmental protection.  
 

4.48 Again there is little detail and so no specific implications to highlight and no specific 
questions on these proposals. There is however reference to a further consultation on these 
issues in the autumn.  
 

4.49 Proposal 17 summary- Historic conservation 
 

4.50  Under these proposal the consultation refers to the critical role that planning plays in 
conserving and enhancing historic buildings and areas. It states that the existing system is 

page 63



working well but they envisage historic buildings will play a central part in the renewal of 
cities, towns and villages. The need for adaptation of historic buildings to address climate 
change and support zero carbon objectives is also acknowledged.  
 

4.51 The consultation refers to reviewing and updating the NPPF with regard to listed buildings 
and conservation areas and exploring new and better ways of consent being secured for 
routine works to enable us to focus on conserving and enhancing the most important 
historic buildings.  
 

4.52 There is little detail to this proposal to raise implications for the Council and no questions 
asked to require a response.  

 

4.53 Proposal 18 summary- Energy efficiency standards for buildings 
 

4.54 The white paper advises that the Government consulted on proposals to move towards a 
Future Homes Standard last year. These seek to deliver, from 2025, a 75-80% reduction in 
CO2 emissions for new builds when compared to current levels, reducing further towards 
zero carbon as the electricity grid decarbonises. The document states that the aim of the 
Government is to ensure that homes built under the new planning system will not need to 
be retrofitted.  
 

4.55 The document states that it will provide a full response to the Future Homes Standard 
Consultation this autumn, specifically mentioning the response it received from the 
Committee on Climate Change. They advise that they will be reviewing the roadmap to the 
Future Homes Standard to ensure that implementation takes place in the shortest possible 
timeline. It alludes to a further review of options for the future of energy efficiency standards 
for new development, beyond 2025. It also advises that the response will seek to clarify the 
role that Local Authorities will play in setting energy efficiency standards for new build 
developments. 
 

4.56 No questions have been included in the white paper for this proposal. 
 

4.57 Potential implications for this Council 
 

4.58 East Devon District Council provided a response to the Future Homes consultation earlier 
this year, covering the technical aspects of the new standards. Little new information has 
been provided in the White Paper as to the Government’s response to the FH consultation, 
which is expected this autumn.  
 

4.59 What can deduced from the White Paper is that the Government would appear to be 
sticking to the benchmark of a 75-80% reduction in emissions when compared to current 
building regulation standards, although it is inferred that the transition towards this standard 
may be accelerated, with higher standards possibly coming in post-2025.  
 

4.60 Members should note that amongst other matters, the FH consultation included the 
proposal to remove the ability of Local Authorities to set their own energy efficiency 
standards for new builds, instead enshrining them within building regulations. The white 
paper advises that the response to the FH consultation will provide clarity on the role that 
Local Authorities will play on this topic going forward. This will be particularly relevant to the 
development of a new Local Plan, which would be unable to cover matters of energy 
efficiency of new buildings should this be enforced. 
 

4.61 Proposed response  
 

page 64



4.62 Given the lack of detail provided in the White Paper and the fact that this Council already 
submitted a response to the Future Homes consultation earlier this year, it is proposed not 
to include any comments until further clarity is provided in the response to the FH 
consultation this autumn. 
 

5 Pillar Three – Planning for infrastructure and connected places 

 
5.1 This chapter sets out the key proposals which seek to improve the way in which 

contributions towards infrastructure associated with new development is made, to improve 
certainty and transparency . As with the previous chapters, it begins with a number of 
general questions directed at the public which are not covered in this report. 

 

5.2 Proposal 19 summary- Reforming Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
 

5.3 This proposal seeks to replace s106 and CIL with a new, consolidated ‘Infrastructure Levy’.  
This levy would be set nationally as a fixed proportion of the development value.  It will be 
levied at point of occupation, and include a minimum threshold below which the levy is not 
charged to prevent low viability development becoming unviable.  The levy will be charged 
for all use classes.  The Government propose to allow local authorities to borrow against 
Infrastructure Levy revenues to forward fund infrastructure. 
 

5.4 The government believe that this approach would help to better capture increases in land 
value and would be more sensitive to economic downturns. 
 

5.5 An alternative option is presented whereby the Infrastructure Levy could remain optional 
and set by individual local authorities.  However, the Government are concerned that their 
influence on levels of land value capture would be less strong under this approach.   
 

5.6 Potential implications for this Council 
 

5.7 This proposal is a radical change in planning obligations with huge implications for how the 
Council operates.  We currently charge CIL based on the rates in our Charging Schedule 
adopted in 2016, with a new Charging Schedule having recently been approved at 
Examination.  The CIL rates were informed by a local assessment of infrastructure needs 
and viability.  We seek s106 planning obligations where the statutory tests can be met, 
which often involves lengthy discussions around local viability issues, infrastructure, and 
affordable housing needs amongst other things. 
 

5.8 The Governments’ proposal would sweep away much of this local assessment, particularly 
the need to test site viability.  Whilst this would simplify the system and save the Council 
time and resources, it lacks flexibility to reflect local circumstances which may mean that 
more ‘difficult’ sites remain undeveloped. 
 

5.9 Including all planning obligations in an Infrastructure Levy, payable by developers at point 
of occupation, could lead to substantial risk and uncertainty in delivering the necessary 
infrastructure to support development.  Such infrastructure is traditionally delivered by 
developers, so passing this responsibility to local authorities, particularly where it is required 
upfront, could be a significant financial burden for this Council. 
 

5.10 Proposed response to questions 
 

5.11 It is difficult to meaningfully respond to some of the questions given the lack of detail around 
such radical changes to the planning obligations system. Nevertheless, responses are set 
out in the boxes below. 

page 65



 

Question 22(a).  
Should the Government replace the Community Infrastructure Levy and Section 
106 planning obligations with a new consolidated Infrastructure Levy, which is 
charged as a fixed proportion of development value above a set threshold? 
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.] 
 

Proposed answer – Not sure 

 

Supporting statement to the response 

It is difficult to meaningfully respond without detail on issues such as what the fixed 
proportion of development value may be, above what threshold, and how much this may 
raise for infrastructure and affordable housing delivery in East Devon.  Although the 
proposed Infrastructure Levy will save time and resources for local authorities in setting 
CIL rates and negotiating s106 agreements, it lacks flexibility to reflect local 
circumstances.  For example, without local or site-specific flexibility there is potential for 
sites with higher existing use value or greater constraints to remain undeveloped; and it 
may stall some non-residential development where values are generally less than 
residential.  It is noted that a minimum threshold will be set, below which the 
Infrastructure Levy will not apply, but this raises the prospect of lower value areas not 
being able to raise sufficient funding for infrastructure and affordable housing.   

 

Question 22(b).  
Should the Infrastructure Levy rates be set nationally at a single rate, set nationally 
at an area-specific rate, or set locally? 
[Nationally at a single rate / Nationally at an area-specific rate / Locally] 
 

Proposed answer – Locally 

 

Supporting statement to the response 

Setting the rates locally would ensure a bespoke approach taking account of local costs 
and values, along with infrastructure and affordable housing needs. There are massive 
variations in values and costs not just across the country but within regions and local 
authority areas. It is difficult to see how nationally set rates could possibly pick up on 
these local variations and therefore would risk either setting rates too low and not 
capturing sufficient value from developments or setting rates too high such that they are 
not viable. Local knowledge and understanding is needed to set appropriate rates. A 
national approach would be far too simplistic and risks delivery of sites with higher 
existing use values and greater constraints. 
 

 

Question 22(c).  
Should the Infrastructure Levy aim to capture the same amount of value overall, or 
more value, to support greater investment in infrastructure, affordable housing and 
local communities?  
[Same amount overall / More value / Less value / Not sure. Please provide 
supporting statement.] 
 

Proposed answer – More value 

 

page 66



Supporting statement to the response 

Landowners, particularly of greenfield sites, can currently make substantial sums when 
their land is released for development.  The latest East Devon viability study (to inform 
CIL rates) incorporates a benchmark land value of £300,000 per hectare for greenfield 
sites, which is approximately 15 times the agricultural land value of £19,750/ha.  Based 
on our experience this is what landowners expect to receive in order to release land for 
development and appeal decisions have shown that this is reasonable and that we 
cannot set a lower benchmark land value. The Infrastructure Levy should seek to 
suppress land values at a national level, to ensure more value is available to support 
local investment in infrastructure, affordable housing and local communities.  This could 
be consistent on a national level by setting a specific proportion of value as a component 
of calculation of infrastructure levy rates but allow local knowledge and understanding to 
inform other elements of the calculation.  
 
Given the proposal is to capture the new infrastructure levy at occupation, it would seem 
reasonable to set the Levy at a higher rate than authorities receive at present, given that 
the developer will benefit from the greatly reduced risk associated with low cash flows 
throughout the course of a development.  
 

 

Question 22(d).  
Should we allow local authorities to borrow against the Infrastructure Levy, to 
support infrastructure delivery in their area? 
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.] 
 

Proposed answer – Yes 

 

Supporting statement to the response 

The proposal for all planning obligations to be included in an Infrastructure Levy, payable 
by developers at point of occupation, could lead to substantial risk and uncertainty in 
delivering the necessary infrastructure to support development.  Such infrastructure is 
traditionally delivered by developers, so passing this responsibility to local authorities, 
particularly where it is required upfront, could be a significant financial burden for local 
authorities.  It is unrealistic to expect local authorities to deliver enabling infrastructure.  
Nevertheless, if this approach is pursued, it is essential to allow local authorities to 
borrow against Infrastructure Levy revenues. 
 

 

 

 

 
5.12 Proposal 20 summary- Capturing changes of use in Infrastructure Levy 

 
5.13  Currently the CIL regulations only apply where additional floor space is created and so 

changes of use do not pay. The government is proposing to extend the base for charges by 
including changes of use including some of those that benefit from permitted development 
rights such as the change of use of offices to residential.  

 

5.14 Potential implications for this Council 
 

page 67



5.15 Although the Council has not seen any significant office to residential developments under 
permitted development rights there are some changes of use to residential that would have 
generated CIL income under these proposals and so they have the potential to increase 
funding for infrastructure and close a loop hole in the current regulations.  
 

5.16 Proposed response to questions 
 

Question 23.  
Do you agree that the scope of the reformed Infrastructure Levy should capture 
changes of use through permitted development rights? 
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.] 
 

Proposed answer – Yes 

 

Supporting statement to the response 

It makes sense that changes of use where viable should pay towards the infrastructure 
that the development will require through the infrastructure levy. Changes of use to 
residential uses should be captured by this whether they gain consent through planning 
permission or permitted development rights.  

 

 

5.17 Proposal 21 summary- Infrastructure Levy to deliver affordable housing 
 

5.18  Affordable housing is currently still provided under Section 106 planning obligations and 
CIL cannot be spent on it. The government propose to enable funds raised from the 
infrastructure levy to be used to secure affordable housing as this would be necessary with 
Section 106 agreements being removed.  
 

5.19 The proposals are that this could be secured as payment in kind on-site delivery of 
affordable homes in a manner akin to the current requirements through Section 106 but in-
lieu of part of the infrastructure levy payment. The reduction in infrastructure levy payment 
would be calculated based on the difference in price between the open market value of the 
property and the price paid by the affordable housing provider who would take on the home. 
Through this route the government would retain the incentive for developers to deliver 
affordable homes on-site and local authorities would retain the ability to specify tenure and 
mix of homes. The consultation acknowledges the measures would be needed to maintain 
appropriate standards of affordable housing and for on-site delivery to be flipped back to a 
financial contribution where the homes are of poor quality or in the event of market fall and 
the levy contributions are insufficient to cover the value of on-site delivery.  
 

5.20 An alternative option is also detailed based on a “first refusal” right for local authorities or 
affordable housing providers acting on our behalf to buy up a set proportion of on-site units 
at a discounted price broadly equivalent to build costs. This purchase would be funded from 
infrastructure levy receipts. It is also indicated that this mechanism could be used to buy 
homes and then sell them at market value to raise funds to deliver affordable housing 
elsewhere.  
 
 

5.21 Potential implications for this Council 
 

5.22 The delivery of affordable housing on-site by developers through Section 106 agreements 
has been our main outlet for affordable housing.  Since the introduction of CIL it has been 

page 68



susceptible to the number of units or tenure split being negotiated away from policy 
requirements due to viability issues. This is because with CIL being fixed there are few 
areas left for negotiations due to viability. The proposals potentially address this albeit again 
there is a distinct lack of detail.  
 

5.23 The alternative option would present an opportunity for the Council to be more proactive in 
the delivery of affordable housing and also presents a mechanism to help fund the delivery 
of affordable housing in parts of the district where development is not coming forward so 
readily. For example under the alternative option it would be possible to sell off at market 
value affordable units required by policy in the west end of the district where there is 
greatest supply of affordable homes and use the funds to deliver units elsewhere where 
there may be greater need and lower provision.  
 

5.24 Proposed response to questions 

 

Question 24(a).  
Do you agree that we should aim to secure at least the same amount of affordable 
housing under the Infrastructure Levy, and as much on-site affordable provision, 
as at present? 
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.] 
 

Proposed answer – Yes 

 

Supporting statement to the response 

There are acute needs for affordable housing and any changes need to ensure that they 
at least maintain if not markedly increase the provision of affordable housing to meet 
those needs. On-site provision by the developer is generally the best way of achieving 
this and should be the norm.  

 

 

Question 24(b).  
Should affordable housing be secured as in-kind payment towards the 
Infrastructure Levy, or as a ‘right to purchase’ at discounted rates for local 
authorities? 
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.] 
 

Proposed answer – Not sure 

 

Supporting statement to the response 

Both approaches have their advantages but if all affordable housing came forward under 
the ‘right to purchase’ then this would place a massive additional burden on local 
authorities to administer this and given the number of homes concerned this may be 
unrealistic.  

A hybrid approach whereby in-kind payment is the normal approach but perhaps on large 
scale strategic sites the ‘right to purchase’ could be applied. This would give local 
authorities greater flexibility on developments such as new communities to ensure that 
they make suitable provision for affordable housing but this does not all need to be as 
part of the development itself and can instead help to deliver affordable housing 
elsewhere in the district. This would avoid situations such as we have found at Cranbrook 

page 69



where the new community has unusually high levels of affordable housing leading to 
some undesireable outcomes where the ability to provide some of the affordable housing 
elsewhere in the district would have been attractive and would have better met local 
needs.  

 

 

Question 24(c).  
If an in-kind delivery approach is taken, should we mitigate against local authority 
overpayment risk? 
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.] 
 

Proposed answer – Not sure 

 

Supporting statement to the response 

If the value secured through in-kind payments is greater than the final levy liability then 
we would not want to be a position of monies being reclaimed from the Council, however 
the system should be designed in such a ways that this does not happen. It would seem 
fundamentally unfair for a developer to be penalised for providing on-site affordable units.  

 

 

Question 24(d).  
If an in-kind delivery approach is taken, are there additional steps that would need 
to be taken to support affordable housing quality? 
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.] 
 

Proposed answer – Yes 

 

Supporting statement to the response 

Affordable housing providers generally have their own requirements in terms of standards 
such as space standards, accessibility standards, epc ratings etc which mean that the 
affordable housing units are often built to a higher standard than the market units. It 
would however make sense to standardise this approach and roll out these standards for 
all new homes both market and affordable so that there is a consistency of approach and 
everyone can benefit from a quality home.  

 

 

 
5.25 Proposal 22 summary- Increased freedom for spending Infrastructure levy 

 
5.26 The government acknowledges the importance of the neighbourhood proportion of CIL that 

enables up to 25% of CIL receipts to be spent in the locality of the development by the 
community. The consultation proposals to retain this element in the proposed new 
infrastructure levy.  
 

5.27 Greater flexibility over the spend of infrastructure levy funds for local authorities is proposed 
so as to allow spend of receipts on policy priorities once core infrastructure obligations have 
been met. In addition to the provision of local infrastructure including parks, open spaces, 

page 70



street trees and delivery or enhancement of community facilities, this could include 
improving services or reducing council tax. The consultation refers to potentially ring 
fencing funds for affordable housing to ensure that this is delivered as well as opportunities 
to enhance digital engagement with communities on spending priorities.  
 

5.28 Potential implications for this Council 
 

5.29 The importance of the neighbourhood proportion to communities is understood but it is too 
soon to say whether these monies are being used effectively by communities to deliver 
what the community needs.  
 

5.30 Greater flexibility over spend in theory sounds positive but in reality CIL has left a funding 
gap of over £70million just for priority 1 projects. The likelihood is that the new infrastructure 
levy would not bring in sufficient additional funds to close this gap and so it seems unlikely 
that we would be able to benefit from such flexibility.  
 

5.31 Proposed response to questions 
 

Question 25.  
Should local authorities have fewer restrictions over how they spend the 
Infrastructure Levy? 
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.] 
 

Proposed answer – Yes 

 

Supporting statement to the response 

Flexibility is good but fundamentally the levy is to fund infrastructure to support 
development and so some controls must remain in place to ensure that this happens. It 
seems that there is also a presumption that the new levy will bring in more than enough 
funds to achieve that but this seems unlikely given the massive funding shortfall for 
infrastructure that CIL has generated. In the case of East Devon we have a funding 
shortfall of £70million just for priority 1 projects on our infrastructure delivery plan and so 
it seems unlikely that this gap will be closed to enable flexibility to be applied. Any new 
levy needs to bring in substantially more funding for infrastructure first and foremost.  

 

Question 25(a) - (note this question is a follow on to Question 25) 
If yes, should an affordable housing ‘ring-fence’ be developed? 
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.] 
 

Proposed answer – Yes 

 

Supporting statement to the response 

It is important that the infrastructure levy is ring fenced for infrastructure first and foremost 
and not just affordable housing. Its fundamental purpose is to fund infrastructure and any 
freedoms should only be applied once this has first been achieved.  

 

 
 

5.32 Proposal 23 summary- Resource and skills strategy 

page 71



 
5.33 In this section the government acknowledge the need for a comprehensive resources and 

skills strategy for the planning sector to support the implementation of reforms. The 
consultation refers to the following key elements: 
 

 Planning fees to continue to be set on a national basis but should cover at least the 
full cost of processing the application type based on national benchmarking.  

 If the new approach to development contributions is implemented a small proportion 
should be earmarked for local planning authorities to cover their overall costs 
including for preparing a local plan, other policy documents and enforcement 
activities. 

 A review to identify and eliminate outdated regulations which cost time and money. 

 Some planning activities to still be funded by general taxation given the public 
benefits of good planning but new burdens funding to be made available to aid the 
transition to a new system.  

 A new performance framework to be established to ensure continuous improvement 
in all local authority planning functions.  

 The planning inspectorate and statutory consultees to become more self-financing 
through new charging mechanisms with associated performance targets.  

 Significant enhancement in digital and geospatial capability and capacity across the 
planning sector.  

 
5.34 Potential implications for this Council 

 
5.35 Views are not sought on these proposals but it is considered that they should generally be 

welcomed albeit performance frameworks have historically focused on timescales for 
decision making rather than the quality of service and decision making which is unfortunate.  
 

5.36 Proposal 24 summary- Strengthened enforcement powers 
 

5.37 The consultation acknowledges the importance of planning enforcement in ensuring 
development standards are maintained and enforced as well as its importance in public 
confidence in the system. The government propose to strengthen enforcement powers and 
sanctions against intentional unauthorised development, consider higher fines and look at 
ways of supporting enforcement activity.  
 

5.38 No details are included and no questions are asked on this section.  
 

6 What happens next 
 

6.1 This chapter sets out the next stages towards implementing the changes proposed in the 
document. Following the consultation, further work will be undertaken to develop the 
proposals before new primary and secondary legislation is brought to Parliament. Changes 
will be made through an updated National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).  
 

6.2 Members will note that a quick timescale is alluded to, with the paper stating that new Local 
Plans will be expected to be in place by the end of Parliament in 2024. This would mean 
that legislation would be in force by the beginning of 2022 at the latest. 
 

6.3 Finally, the paper includes a question on the potential impacts of the proposal on people 
with protected characteristics as defined in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 ( Age, 
disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and 
sexual orientation. It argues that a simplified planning system will allow for greater 
engagement for all groups up and down the Country. 
 

page 72



6.4 Proposed response to question- Equalities impact 
 

6.5 Like all public authorities the government is required to have due regard to the need to 
eliminate unlawful discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations.  
 

 

Question 26.  
Do you have any views on the potential impact of the proposals 
raised in this consultation on people with protected characteristics 
as defined in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010? 
 

Proposed answer – No 

 

 

page 73



16Report to: Strategic Planning Committee 

 

Date of Meeting: 16 September 2020 

Public Document: Yes 

Exemption: None 

Review date for 
release 

None  

 

Subject: Adoption and Implementation of the revised Community 
Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedule 

Purpose of report: To note the outcome of the recent Examination into the (revised) 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Draft Charging Schedule, and 
present the final version of the Charging Schedule for approval at 
Council.  The report sets out the process for bringing the revised 
Charging Schedule into effect, including the date for when the new 
charges will apply. 

Recommendation: 1. Note the outcome of the Examination into the Community 
Infrastructure Levy Draft Charging Schedule 

2. Recommend to Council that the revised Community 
Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedule attached at Appendix 
A is Approved with effect from 1 February 2021 
 

Reason for 
recommendation: 

 

To update Members on the recent CIL Draft Charging Schedule 
Examination, noting receipt of the Examiner’s Report.  Legislation 
requires that the Charging Schedule must be formally approved by a 
resolution of full council.  The forthcoming date on when the revised 
Charging Schedule comes into effect (February 1, 2021) strikes a 
balance between providing sufficient notice to the development industry, 
and reflecting the viability evidence on levy rates and funding required to 
aid infrastructure delivery.  

Officer: 
 
 

Keith Lane, Planning Policy Officer 

klane@eastdevon.gov.uk 

01395 571684 

Portfolio Holder: Portfolio Holder Strategic Planning 

Financial 
implications: 
 

The long term financial implications are stated within the body of the 
report.  At the 2019 year end an in year contribution of £3.4m brought the 
balance held within the CIL Reserve to £7.1m which is accounted for on 
an accruals basis.  The total amount actually collected, ignoring 
instalments not yet paid, amounts to £5m. 

Legal implications: The legal implications are as detailed in the report. 

Equalities impact: Low Impact 

. 

Climate change:  Low Impact 
 

page 74

Agenda Item 9

mailto:klane@eastdevon.gov.uk


The rates in the CIL Charging Schedule achieve a balance between 
economic viability, and funding to deliver infrastructure.  There is a low 
impact on climate change. 

Risk: Low Risk 

The proposed CIL rates have been subject to independent Examination.  
The Examiner concluded that the rates are consistent with legislation 
and guidance by achieving a reasonable level of income to address a 
gap in infrastructure funding, whilst ensuring that a range of development 
remains viable across East Devon. 

Links to background 
information: 
 
 

 Adopted CIL Charging Schedule 

 Agenda for Strategic Planning Committee, 20 August 2019, item 7 

 CIL Review and Cranbrook DPD Viability Study and Annexes 

 East Devon Infrastructure Delivery Plan Review 

 Cranbrook Infrastructure Delivery Plan (Jan 2020) 

 Community Infrastructure Levy Planning Practice Guidance 

 Draft CIL Charging Schedule Examiner’s Report (4 June 2020) 

 Community Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedule, for Approval – 
Appendix A  

Link to Council Plan: . 
Outstanding Place and Environment 

 Outstanding Homes and Communities 

 Outstanding Economic Growth, Productivity, and Prosperity 

 Outstanding Council and Council Services 

Report in full 

 

1. Background 

1.1 The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) can be imposed on new development by local 
planning authorities, and is a tool to help deliver infrastructure to support development.  
CIL is payable on development that creates net additional floor space, expressed as 
pounds per square metre.  However, some development is exempt from paying CIL, for 
example if less than 100 square metres in size (apart from new dwellings), dwellings built 
by self/custom builders, social housing, and charitable development.  The rate of CIL is set 
in a “charging schedule”. 

1.2 The council adopted its current Charging Schedule in April 2016, and began charging CIL 
a few months later on 1 September 2016.  The current Charging Schedule contains a 
charge for residential development, and retail development outside town centres and 
Cranbrook.  All other non-residential uses do not pay CIL.   

1.3 On adoption of the current Charging Schedule, the council made clear that an early review 
would be required.  A key reason for doing so is to reflect the emerging Cranbrook Plan to 
ensure a consistent approach to infrastructure delivery at the town (i.e. section 106 
planning obligations), and align the future growth of Cranbrook with a revised CIL charging 
zone – for example, if the current Charging Schedule continued to apply, “Grange” 
expansion area will be paying more CIL than the others, which clearly would not be 
justified.   

1.4 This review began in 2017 and included preparation of a viability assessment which 
informed the proposed CIL rates.  The subsequent revision of the Charging Schedule has 
reflected the emerging Cranbrook Plan, amended legislation, updated national policy and 
guidance, and latest evidence on development costs and values in East Devon. 

page 75

http://eastdevon.gov.uk/media/1680258/adopted-charging-schedule.pdf
https://democracy.eastdevon.gov.uk/documents/g265/Public%20reports%20pack%2020th-Aug-2019%2010.00%20Strategic%20Planning%20Committee.pdf?T=10
http://eastdevon.gov.uk/media/2760827/east-devon-cil-review-and-cranbrook-viability-report.pdf
http://eastdevon.gov.uk/media/2760830/east-devon-cil-review-and-cranbrook-viability-annexes.pdf
http://eastdevon.gov.uk/media/2270747/idp-review-2017_report.pdf
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/media/3718932/matter-9-appendix-1-infrastructure-delivery-v2-311219.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/community-infrastructure-levy
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/media/3720485/east-devon-cil-report-final-002.pdf
http://www.eastdevon.gov.uk/papers/strategicplanning/160920bpCILChargingSchedule.pdf
http://www.eastdevon.gov.uk/papers/strategicplanning/160920bpCILChargingSchedule.pdf
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/new-council-plan/index.htm


1.5 When setting a CIL rate, a balance must be struck between the desirability of using CIL to 
fund infrastructure to support development, and the potential effects of CIL on 
development viability.   

1.6 The infrastructure funding required for delivery of the Local Plan and emerging Cranbrook 
Plan amounts to some £371.3m, of which there is anticipated funding of £209.55m, leaving 
an overall infrastructure funding gap of around £161.75m.  It is estimated that CIL receipts 
up to the year 2031 will total around £26.8m, making an important contribution to filling the 
infrastructure funding gap.   

1.7 The potential effects on viability have been considered through the CIL Review and 
Cranbrook DPD Viability Study”, prepared by consultants Three Dragons with Ward 
Williams Associates.  For selected case studies, this study establishes a residual value by 
subtracting all development costs (except for land purchase) from the value of the 
completed development (the Gross Development Value).  The cost of land is then 
subtracted from the residual value to arrive at the theoretical maximum CIL charge.  To 
allow for variations in costs and values between sites, and provide some safeguard if costs 
and values differ, the study applies a buffer (generally of around 50%) compared to the 
maximum theoretical CIL charge that could be applied.  In most cases, the values from 
residential development enable CIL to be charged (apart from Cranbrook where a nil 
charge is recommended), but this is not the case for non-residential development where 
only retail outside town centres can sustain CIL. 

1.8 In August 2019, Strategic Planning Committee resolved that the Draft Charging Schedule 
be published for consultation (following earlier consultation on a “preliminary draft”), and 
recommended to Council that this document be submitted to the Planning Inspectorate for 
Examination.  The Draft Charging Schedule was subsequently submitted for Examination 
on 29 October 2019, with a hearing session taking place on 18 February 2020.   

1.9 In early June 2020, we received the Examiner’s Report into the Examination – this 
concluded that the CIL Charging Schedule provides an appropriate basis for collecting the 
levy, with sufficient evidence showing that the levy is set at a level that will not put the 
overall development of the area at risk.  The Examiner recommended that the Charging 
Schedule be approved without changes.   

2. The revised Charging Schedule 

2.1 Following receipt of the Examiner’s Report, the Charging Schedule in Appendix A sets out 
the charges that are recommended for approval, alongside maps showing where the 
charges apply (the “charging zones”).   

2.2 In general, the proposed residential rates in the revised Charging Schedule are higher 
than the current adopted Charging Schedule (as index-linked), whilst the retail rate is less 
than half.  The following table (Figure 1) compares the current CIL rates with the new rates 
that are recommended for approval.  

Figure 1: Current CIL rates compared to proposed revised rates1 

Type and location of development Current indexed 
CIL rate (per 
square metre) 

Proposed new 
CIL rate (per 
square metre) 

All development in Cranbrook £84.12 £0 

General residential development in Sidmouth and 
Budleigh Salterton 

£154.63 £200 

                                            
1 Note that the comparison between the current and recommended rates is to inform the councils’ decision and that 
the use categories for the current CIL rate and proposed rate may not always be exactly the same – for example the 
current charging schedule refers to “residential” which the council has been implementing as a C3 use, which may or 
may not be directly comparable with the recommendations for sheltered/extra care which may be C2 or C3. 

page 76



General residential development in the rest of 
East Devon 

£98.96 (urban 
area) or £154.63 
(rural area) 

£150 

Sheltered housing, extra care housing and care 
homes 

£0-£154.63 £0 

Rural Exception Sites £154.63 £0 

Strategic sites2 £98.96 £100 

Retail (out of centre)3 £185.44 £84 

All other non-residential uses £0 £0 

2.3 The Charging Schedule must be formally approved by a resolution of full council.  Whilst 
the recommendation is that Council adopt the revised Charging Schedule, it is not required 
to do so.  As stated in paragraph 1.3 above, a key reason for updating the Charging 
Schedule is to be consistent with the emerging Cranbrook Plan and infrastructure delivery 
at the town.  The emerging Cranbrook Plan, currently at Examination, is based upon a 
zero CIL charge and infrastructure delivery through planning obligations.  Therefore, not 
approving the revised Charging Schedule could prejudice progress on the Cranbrook Plan 
and delivery of infrastructure at the town more generally.  Whilst it is likely that Covid-19 
has had a short term impact on building rates, the long term effects on development 
viability are not known, so the pandemic should not prevent the council approving the new 
CIL rates.  As noted, a substantial buffer has been applied in setting the rates. 

2.4 Legislation also allows the council to stop charging CIL altogether.  This would require an 
assessment of the effects of withdrawing CIL on the funding of infrastructure needs, a 
summary of measures to address this, and an assessment of how effective those 
measures will be.  This assessment would then be subject to public consultation.  As 
stated in paragraph 1.6, the estimated CIL receipts of around £26.8m will make an 
important contribution to filling the infrastructure funding gap.  In addition, the proposed 
rates are based upon evidence that has been assessed through Examination, and 
recommended by the independent Examiner.   

2.5 The existing Charging Schedule is accompanied by a “Regulation 123 list” setting out 
infrastructure projects or types of infrastructure that the council may fund using CIL 
receipts.  These lists have now been abolished by the Government, and replaced with a 
requirement for the council to produce an “infrastructure funding statement” by December 
31 every year (relating to the preceding period of April 1 to March 31).  This statement will 
include: 

 How much CIL the council has received and what we have spent it on 

 How much s106 the council has received and what we have spent it on 

 Which infrastructure projects and/or types of infrastructure we intend to spend CIL 
on 

2.6 A separate report including our first annual infrastructure funding statement will be brought 
to Strategic Planning Committee. 

3. Implementation  

3.1 After approval of the revised Charging Schedule at Council, we can publish the Charging 
Schedule, and then proceed to implementing the new CIL charges.  The date on which the 

                                            
2 Rate applies to residential development on strategic sites, as shown on the charging zone maps.   
3 Retail is defined as all uses that fall within Classes A1, A2, A3, A4 and A5 of the Town and Country Planning (Use 
Classes) Order 1987 as amended, or any other order altering, amending or varying that Order, and related sui generis 
uses. The retail rate applies to qualifying floor space outside of Town Centre Shopping Areas as defined in the East 
Devon Local Plan 2013 to 2031, as shown on the charging zone maps. 

page 77



new charges take effect is chosen by us, but must be at least one day after the date it is 
published.   

3.2 There are several issues to think about in considering when to introduce the new charges.  
They should be brought in relatively swiftly as they reflect viability evidence on levy rates, 
and support the council’s approach to infrastructure delivery, particularly at Cranbrook.  
The council already has software – “Exacom” – in place to administer CIL, and this will 
need to be updated with the new CIL charges and zones to which they apply.  The 
council’s website will also need to be amended in various places with information on the 
revised Charging Schedule.  In addition, the development industry should be given 
sufficient notice so they are fully aware of the new charges.4   

3.3 Taking the above factors into account, it is recommended the revised Charging Schedule 
takes effect on Monday 1 February 2021.  

 

                                            
4 Nb. for developments which already have outline planning permission granted between 1 Sept 2016 and the day 
before the revised Charging Schedule being introduced, the reserved matters development will be calculated using 
the ‘old’ Charging Schedule. 

page 78


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the previous meeting
	7 Changes to current planning system August 2020 consultation
	8 Planning White Paper - implications and proposed response
	9 Adoption and implementation of the revised Community Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedule

